
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Community & Leisure 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Tuesday, 15 September 2020 at 7.30 
pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on 
how Members can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 5 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2020-21 (Pages 11 - 22)

6. Impact of Covid 19 on Gravesham’s Community Sector (Pages 23 - 30)

7. Cultural Strategy (Pages 31 - 44)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


8. Draft Tourism & Heritage Strategy (Pages 45 - 64)

9. Modern Slavery Strategy (Pages 65 - 92)

10.Anti-Social Behaviour Update (Pages 93 - 98)

11.Violence Against Women & Girls (Pages 99 - 
104)

12.Step Change Project (Pages 105 - 
108)

13.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency. 

14.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any 
items included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view 
of the nature of business to be transacted that if members of the 
public are present during those items, there would be disclosure 
to them of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private 

None. 

Members

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair)
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Helen Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Harold Craske
Aaron Elliott
Gary Harding
Emma Morley
Christina Rolles
Peter Scollard

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee 

Wednesday, 03 June 2020                                           7:30pm  

Present:

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair) 
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair) 

Cllrs: Helen Ashenden 
Ejaz Aslam 
Harold Craske 
Aaron Elliott 
Gary Harding  
Emma Morley   
Christina Rolles 
Peter Scollard 

Melanie Norris 
Simon Hookway 
Anita Tysoe 
Mandy Hare    

Director (Communities) 
Assistant Director (Communities) 
Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) 
General Manager – Woodvilles  

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

39. Apologies 

No apologies for absence were received. 

40. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on Wednesday, 03 March 2020 were signed by the Chair. 

41. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox declared an interest in item 5 as he was the representative to the 
Gr@nd and on the Management Board of the GCLL. 

Cllr Peter Scollard also declared an interest in item 5 as was on the Managing Board of the 
GCLL. 

42. Coronavirus: Cabinet Portfolio Impact 

The Committee was provided with an overview of the impact of the Coronavirus (Covid-19) 
pandemic upon the practical delivery of the respective services within the Community & 
Leisure Cabinet portfolio. 

The Assistant Director (Communities) informed Members of the strain the pandemic put on 
the services within the Communities directorate and the challenges that were faced to 
continue to support the Community and the welfare of the staff who worked tirelessly over 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 3.06.2020

2

the last two months. Many staff worked from home or came into the office daily while others 
who could not work from home or the office were happily redeployed in other areas of the 
Council providing support where it was needed.  

Due to the constantly changing information, the Service Manager (Customer & Theatre 
Services) elaborated further on section two of the report regarding ‘protecting shielded and 
other vulnerable residents’: 

 As of Mid-March 2.5 million people were identified as being clinically vulnerable 
nationally

 A letter from NHS was sent out to the identified people encouraging them to seek 
support by registering on the Government website; support included distributing food 
parcels to those in need 

 On a daily basis, the Council team received 150 cases a day, seven days a week for 
Shielded people 

 A team of 15-20 officers were trained and assembled through volunteering  to focus 
on contacting all of the Shielded people on the list 

 The Finance team tidied the data that was received, removing duplicate contact 
information as well as maintaining spreadsheets late in the evening and at weekends

 Each of the cases was assigned a rating of Green (no help was needed) or red (very 
vulnerable and needed extra support) 

 The expected Gravesham caseload was around 2500 cases but as of last week the 
team had reached out to over 4000  people 

 Another letter setting out the Council’s key contact information was sent to the 
Shielded group 

 If a person on the Shielded group did not answer any of the team’s phone calls then 
the Safer Place Officers/CEOS carried out door knocks. If no contact persisted then 
the case was referred over to the Police to make a final visit

 To date, the team have made over 10,000 phone calls to every single person that 
was referred to the Council; those phone calls included scheduled follow up calls 
which are still ongoing. As part of those calls, emergency food parcels were 
distributed and befriending calls were made to the most lonely and vulnerable  

 In addition to data from the NHS cohort, contact was received from the wider 
Community as a letter was sent to every household informing them how they could 
receive help from the Council 

 An advice line and COVID-19 email was set up which was monitored 24/7 including 
evenings and weekends; they are both still place although the amount of contact 
received has been significantly reduced as many are now self-sufficient. Some of the 
weekly welfare visits are also ongoing to various vulnerable residents 

 Over 3700 direct contacts were made to the Council and 1800 interventions were put 
in place including picking up medication from pharmacies and GP’s 

 In total there were 800 volunteer requests, 400 door knocks, 140 food parcels 
distributed and 100 befriending cases

 Some officers have now been able to reduce their time sent on call-backs from the 
NHS cohort and customer services have been able to deal with the bulk of the 
inquires

 The response phase has moved into the transition phase 
 There were still a lot of unknowns and if a second wave or local peak occurred then 

the team would have to return to operating when the lockdown first started 

Page 4



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 3.06.2020

3

Members approved of the letter that was sent out to the businesses and Shielded residents 
but raised concern over the lack of languages used; it was suggested that in the future any 
letters sent out to residents included more translations such as Urdu, Bengali and Punjabi. 

The Director (Communities) responded that the Council largely followed Government 
guidance on the issue of translations and that guidance stated that Councils should not 
include too many translations as it would be very costly and use excessive amounts of 
paper. The Director (Communities) appreciated the concern but informed Members that 
Gravesham were in the top 5% of Councils that had contacted the most businesses about 
the support grant and the officers attempted communication with all residents through phone 
calls and door knocks if they didn’t receive a response from the letter. 

Officers fielded questions and comments from the Committee and explained that:

 The Director (Communities) spoke with Rob Swain (Managing Director of GCLL) 
about his recovery plan last week and the re-opening of the gyms will be guided by 
the Government guidance of maintaining social distance. There are no plans for 
perspex screen between equipment; instead the gym equipment will be moved onto 
the squash courts and sports halls to ensure social distancing between users. The 
changing rooms will remain closed when the gyms reopen but the toilet facilities will 
be re-opened 

 With regards to increased reports of anti-social behaviour during lockdown, the main 
reasons for the increase have been the amount of calls to Police on neighbours 
breaking lockdown rules, issues from noise and bonfires. Previously, most ASB 
cases have been seen around the Town Centre, however with the lockdown in effect, 
cases have spiked in other areas of Gravesham 

 The Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy that was adopted earlier in the year has come 
into the effect and there is a collaborative approach in tackling ASB between the 
Council and the Police 

The Committee paid tribute and gave thanks to all the Council Officers and Community 
organisations that worked hard during the pandemic to provide support and services to all 
residents of the Borough.   

43. Post-COVID 19 Recovery for Gravesend Town Centre 

The Committee was presented with a discussion document to assist with Post Covid-19 
recovery Planning for Gravesend Town Centre.

The Director (Communities) advised that creation of the report started three weeks into the 
lockdown but it constantly changed as the Government released new guidance every day.  
The report strove to develop a plan for re-opening of the Town Centre and set out a full 
recovery plan.  

The Director (Communities) advised that the year started with approved extra budgets for 
various events planned throughout the year however as the pandemic worsened, the 
Council was forced to cancel all events for public safety. As a result, the Town Centre also 
saw a dramatic decrease in footfall as most stores closed and the public only ventured into 
Gravesend for food shopping or emergency supplies.  

The Director (Communities) informed the Committee that a team of officers within the 
Communities directorate formed a work group and created a Plan for Town Centre recovery 

Page 5



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 3.06.2020

4

which involved four main approaches, listed in full from pages 37-45 in the report. It was 
important that the approaches made were similar to other neighbouring local authorities so 
that there was unity across Kent: 

 Actions undertaken during the lock down 
 Planning for partial re-opening of the Town Centre 
 Celebration/Commemoration events going forward 
 Being part of the strategic plans for Kent 

As mentioned at 6.3 of the report, social distancing measures for queuing outside of shops 
will commence from 15 June 2020 once the non-essential shops are allowed to reopen. The 
Director (Communities) explained to Members the team had been in discussions with the 
businesses in Gravesham to ensure social distancing was in place outside and inside the 
shops. In addition Parish Councils have been written to about social distancing in their 
village shops. There will be marshals in the Town Centre to ensure social distancing takes 
place and Parishes have been offered the services of volunteer marshals. 

It was suggested by a Member of the Committee that the free period of two hours parking on 
a Saturday be extended to accommodate people who have had to wait in long lines, due to 
social distancing measures, to complete all of their shopping. 

The Chair advised that car parking fell under the Leader’s portfolio and the point would be 
raised with him outside of the meeting. 

Officers fielded questions and comments from the Committee and explained that:

 The Council was waiting for  authorisation to purchase digital notice boards using 
Government grant money  to promote local activities 

 Due to the plans for socially distanced lines once New Road reopens its shops on 
June 15th the benches will not be replaced however they will be left at key places at 
the end of New Road in each direction. The marshals will assist any elderly or 
disabled people to one of the benches location if they were in need; they would also 
be on hand to talk to staff in shops to let them in as a priority shopper 

 There is a comprehensive plan in place to install signage reminding shoppers to 
socially distance in the Town Centre; the Assistant Director (Communities) walked 
around the Town Centre with the suppliers identifying key places where the signs 
needed to be erected. They will be installed prior to 15 June 2020 

 The Environmental Health and Licensing Teams will be leading on giving advice to 
shop owners regarding social distancing within their premises and enforcing 
compliance; the team’s main focus will be on the small to medium sized businesses 
that may require further assistance to receive their certificate of compliance. 
Members were encouraged to submit anything they felt prudent, regarding 
assistance for the Town Centres shops, by email to the Assistant Director 
(Communities) 

 The Communities teams have been researching ways of commemorating the key 
workers and people who have died from COVID-19; it is likely that a plaque will be 
created and put up in the local hospital or somewhere similar. It has been deemed 
inappropriate to install anything at the moment but it will happen in the near future 

 As Captain Tom Moore was married in Gravesham, a letter of congratulations can be 
sent to him in recognition of his service and Knighthood 

Page 6



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 3.06.2020

5

The Chair was happy for a letter to be sent out to Captain Tom Moore but he advised that it 
would be more suitable for the letter to be sent by the Mayor than the Committee. 

44. Arts & Culture Strategy for Gravesham 

The Committee was presented with a discussion paper on the development of an arts and 
culture strategy for the Borough. 

The Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) introduced the report, explaining that 
the document was a work in progress that set out the intended vision of the Town and the 
intention to make Gravesham a serious contender for external funding from organisations 
such as the Arts Council and attracting aspiring artists from London etc. Before any funding 
can be applied for, a clear Arts & Culture Strategy will need to be in place. 

The General Manager – Woodvilles informed the Committee of the work that had gone into 
the Strategy so far: 

 Lots of planning has been carried out around organising festivals, parades and 
community events in Gravesham. Lengthy conversations have been had with local 
artists about how to promote art in Gravesham, attract investment and further 
develop their interests 

 At this moment in time, the Strategy is in the consultation phase; surveys have been 
posted to residents and a similar survey was also given to stakeholders to seek their 
views on the Strategy. The responses received from residents was overall very 
positive and there was a lot of enthusiasm from the public for a Strategy to be in 
place 

 A questionnaire has also been sent out to the managers of cultural assets within 
Gravesham to scope out the current and projected footfall and income generated by 
the assets 

 The steering group for the Strategy was also given a series of questions to consider
 The vision for the Strategy over the next ten years has stemmed from comments 

received from the local artistic community and hopefully Gravesham will become the 
cultural hub of North Kent leading on big events and community programmes 

The General Manager – Woodvilles further explained key points from the report regarding 
the vision for Gravesham and the priorities of the Strategy: 

 Growing a cultural and creative community 
 Supporting and developing artists and creatives 
 Vibrant and aspirational arts and cultural events programme 
 Enhancing and promoting our assets and heritage 
 Developing our children and young people creative 

A few suggestions were made by the Committee: 

 That the snake made of pebbles created by children living on Whinfell Way in 
Riverview be set in concrete or something similar to stand as a memory of something 
positive created during the COVID-19 pandemic 

 All Members should be able to express their views on the Strategy by emailing the 
General Manager – Woodvilles with their comments 

Page 7



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 3.06.2020

6

 Social media should be utilised to get the message out to a wider audience and seek 
their views via online comments and forms etc 

 A permanent Arts Centre/gallery space for local artists to use and exhibit their work 
should be built   

In response to the suggestions, the Chair: 

 agreed that setting the snake in concrete was a good idea and promised to discuss it 
outside of the meeting 

 The General Manager – Woodvilles had already put the message out over social 
media regarding the Strategy asking for the public’s views 

The Director (Communities) informed Members that there was already an Arts Centre in 
development within the St George’s Centre which will be used to showcase different genres 
of Art. The feedback from local artists has been very positive in the main and as larger 
events cannot be held in the future, it will be a prime place to hold smaller scale events for 
the public. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:49pm. 

Page 8



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Committee

Date: 15 September 2020

Reporting officer: Simon Hookway - Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter One 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Community & Leisure Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter One 2020-21 (April to June 2020).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Community & Leisure 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter One 2020-21, covering the period April to June 2020. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented in tabular and graphical 
form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate either to 
those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data has not 
been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns where data 
has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next available 
reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 10



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 12



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

C O M M U N I T Y  &  L E I S U R E
P O R T F O I O

Performance   report 
Q  1  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

P
age 13



P I  1 Total number of reported crime offences

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

3,143 3,225 3,211 3,245 2,670

P I  2 Total number of reported incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour 

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

636 774 556 685 1,295

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Create stronger neighbourhoods: work with Kent Police on the prevention, detection and reduction

of crime and anti-social behaviour, and the safeguarding of local residents.

O U T T U R N 

O U T T U R N 

Levels of crime and ASB locally have felt the impact of Covid-19 mirroring both the county-wide and 

national experience.  Conditions created during lockdown have led to certain crime categories such as 

burglary, vehicle crime and shoplifting, see significant reductions as opportunities for these offences to 

be committed have been curtailed whilst many people have remained at home and many retail premises 

have been closed.  Conversely, there has been an unprecedented increase in reports of ASB however, it 

is important to emphasise that the vast majority of this increase is related to reports of breaches of 

Covid-19 restrictions.

The day-to-day business of the CSU adapted to meet community needs during lockdown.  The Safer 

Place Officer Team worked with the Community Hub and assisted with deliveries of food parcels, 

medication and carrying out door knocks to check on the welfare of vulnerable people.  Whilst some 

projects activities have been inevitably deferred, the CSU has on the whole continued to operate as 

normal with the following key activity in Qtr 1:

- An annual application for our Crime Reduction Grant from the Office of the Kent PCC was successfully

submitted and some of the funds are now being used to upgrade 8 of our key town centre CCTV

cameras. These are being changed to HD Digital/Wireless, both improving the quality of footage

obtained and also reducing future costs;

- A very detailed data collection exercise was completed and submitted to Government in relation to the

MHCLG-supported Step Change Project (providing support and assistance to victims of domestic abuse

with complex needs and their children).  Whilst time-consuming, the data collected, together with case

studies, has provided very useful evidence of the value of the project;

- Both the multi-agency Gravesham Vulnerability Panel and the Gravesham Serious Organised Crime

Panel have continued to meet via virtual meetings ensuring that referrals relating to vulnerable adults

could still be heard without delay and that intelligence-sharing in respect of SOC has continued;

- The Council’s Statement against Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking has been reviewed, updated

and is now published on the Council’s website.  The CSU is also in the process of producing a new

MSHT Action Plan to develop our work in tackling this issue.  Together with Housing Services, we will be

working with colleagues from Kent and Essex Police and Porchlight on this initiative;

- The recruitment process for an Environmental Enforcement Manager is underway and has generated

considerable interest.  Interviews will take place in July.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

0

500

1,000

1,500

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

P
age 14



P I  13 Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

17 16 28 19 0

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

 2. Actively enforce environmental standards: use available powers to pursue anyone committing 

environmental crime or damaging the local environment. 

O U T T U R N 

Due to COVID-19 between April and June 2020 the issuing of Fixed Penalty Notices were suspended.  

Safer Place Officers supported essential operational tasks carrying out welfare checks on those 

identified as vulnerable persons in the Community as well as assisting with food parcel deliveries and 

collections. Other duties included checking of Parks advising of removal of litter and social distancing to 

ensure parks remained clean and safe.  

Since lockdown was relaxed in August Safer Place Officers will be returning to normal duties and have 

capacity to issue Fines where appropriate.  The Safer Place Officers are reduced in numbers at present 

with two posts out to advertisement.  A new Environmental Enforcement Manager will be starting mid-

September with responsibility for all environmental enforcement including fly-tipping and Litter offences. 

The Safer Place Officers will be reporting to the new Environmental Enforcement Manager. 

0

10

20

30

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

P
age 15



P I  37

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

219,508 207,957 194,043 204,620 N/A

P I  38 Total number of ‘Active Gravesham’ attendees

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

7,318

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

Total number of leisure centre attendees

O U T T U R N 

Annual indicator Annual indicator

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Design a quality and affordable leisure offer: improved facilities and creative sports programmes 

to tackle local health inequalities.

Leisure Centres – Since the 20th March, when GCLL were instructed to close the leisure centres, they 

have been working hard to ensure that they were able to re-open as and when they were allowed to do 

so. The period of forced closure has been challenging, with the majority of the staff based at both sites 

being furloughed. GCLL have been working in partnership with the council in order to apply for relevant 

Government funding support schemes and to look at ways to mitigate the costs associated with the 

current leisure centre contract during a time of no direct income. As of, 25 July 2020, gyms, group class 

programmes, badminton and squash courts reopened to the public via a pre-booking process available 

on-line.  The re-opening of the other areas such swimming pools, health suites, creches and catering 

areas will hopefully follow over shortly. GCLL have made many adjustments at the leisure centres, so as 

to fully comply with the strict Government guidelines for re-opening,  and the ultimate aim to re-open in 

the safest way possible so as to protect the health and wellbeing of all users. More information on the 

programming and procedures that have been put in place are  available on GCLL’s website at 

www.gcll.co.uk.

Sports Development (Active Gravesham) – The programme for Q1 has been cancelled due to Covid-19. 

This would have included; Walking football, walking netball, Round the World Challenge, Kwik Cricket 

Festival and cricket fixtures at Wombwell Park. During this quarter, the council has produced 600 

exercise leaflets, which went out to all the food banks across the borough and were distributed in the 

food boxes. These leaflets listed the various online exercise workshops available along with instructions 

and pictures on how to do a few exercises and workouts from home (which would assist those who don’t 

have access to the internet). During Q1, the Sports and Recreation Officer has been looking at ways at 

developing a small number of activities that can be advertised and delivered during the Summer period, 

such as, Geocaching and nature trails. More information on this will be available in Q2.

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

2,500

5,000

7,500

10,000

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 16



P I  40

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

974 595 1,011 515 353

Total number of people achieving a target outcome from the Gr@nd healthy living 

services

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Manage a programme of proactive healthy living interventions: work with partners to help support 

and safeguard vulnerable residents. 

Nearly 90% of sessions have continued since day 1 of lockdown either socially distanced in person, via 

zoom, over the phone or via pre-recorded videos shared on social media and the websites.

Key activities in Q1 have included:  

• A phone in option for the One You Lifestyle Advisor service is working well. A Weekly Zoom call for 

One You Weight Loss/Nutrition has also been provided. Exercise tutors have created online content and 

participants have been made aware that this is available. 

• A series of ‘Keep Calm and Watch Carl’ relaxation and stretching videos have been created alongside 

‘Harry and Lia’s Job Club’ and ‘Harry and Lia Tech Tips’ which are short tutorials. Basic English Classes 

have also gone online. All of the short videos are available on our website www.thegrand.org.uk

• A series of six ways to wellbeing videos in the format of a gameshow were. These were very popular 

on our social media platforms (reached 6,761 people and had 338 engagements).

• Two of our young reporters have launched their own podcast called ‘Brit(ish)’ which explores society, 

racism and how young people are navigating society. The young people have also created a podcast 

discussing Black Lives Matter.  

• Pandemic Pressures – two young people ages 14-15 have started to create videos talking about the 

pressures the pandemic has created. 

• Weekly zoom meetings with the GYG performers have led to a virtual Choir and ‘Doorstep Dedications’ 

whereby requests were performed on behalf of people who were missing loved ones or celebrating 

milestones without loved ones. These have been some of the most popular posts on social media, with 

one ‘Doorstep Dedication’ popping up on 11,000 people’s timeline and being watched by 1,834 people.

• Approximately 40 vulnerable young people from the Roma Slovak community and young people who 

self-identify as Gypsy, known to be at risk of gangs and exploitation, were attending the Gr@nd prior to 

lockdown stating that coming into the Gr@nd keeps them ‘out of trouble’. The group have all been 

personally sent details of the 24/7 phone line support number and as a result, advice has been given on 

health and well-being, housing issues including potential evictions, benefits, relationships, and 

government advice. 

300

600

900

1,200

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

P
age 17



P I  41

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

36

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Develop a cohesive and resilient community: implement a leading programme of engagement 

initiatives, showcasing the borough’s diversity and enabling greater participation in civic life.

Total number of community activities/events delivered by the council and in conjunction 

with its partners

O U T T U R N 

#2 PLACE 

Annual indicator Annual indicator

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Covid-19 has prevented physical community engagement events because of restrictions on gatherings.  

During lockdown the community came together to respond quickly to local needs and provide support 

where needed.  The council has been in regular contact with local organisations throughout lockdown to 

match up requests for help with appropriate services.  North West Kent Volunteer Centre set up a 

volunteering scheme to assist with shopping and prescription collection and Alzheimer and Dementia 

Support ran a befriending scheme on behalf of the council.   Religious festivals and key dates have been 

recognised and supported by the council with flag raising for Easter, Vaisakhi, International Roma Day, 

St George's Day, Eid and Armed Forces Day.  The Community Awards scheme was postponed with 

judging and presentations now planned for August supplemented by Pandemic Hero Awards 

0

20

40

60

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 18



P I  42

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

10,658 12,358 21,127 6,968 0

P I  43

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

6,419 6,801 6,857 7,461 980

O U T T U R N 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, The Woodville ceased performances from 16 March and was closed for 

all activity from 23th March in accordance with government advice. 

However, during that time The Woodville continued to reach out to its audiences and the wider 

community through online channels. In particular, Woodville staff and volunteers created short videos 

that could be shared. These ranged from poems by the 99 year old father in law of one of our volunteers 

to a lesson in ant farming by the son of our box office administrator. Other activities included jokes, 

puzzles and theatre reviews from members of the Woodville team. We also used the channel to 

serialise our popular Christmas shows and to share videos that had been created during lockdown by 

our creative partners. The YouTube videos attracted nearly 2000 views in addition to the views on other 

social media channels. Our patrons were updated on our activity through weekly emails as well as social 

media posts. 

Time was also spent preparing the venue for when a re-opening would be feasible and preparing staff 

and volunteers for some of the changes required. Staff also assisted with the Council’s Covid-19 

community response.      

                                                                                                                                                               

Despite a positive end to the financial year for the market with the introduction of a new Saturday food 

market, the market closed mid March due to the Coronavirus and remained closed until the beginning of 

June. Re-opening was initially for the Saturday food market only, with permanent traders re-opening 

from 15 June. Footfall has therefore been significantly impacted for this first quarter

#2 PLACE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

Average weekly Borough Market footfall

O U T T U R N 

4. Enhance the borough’s cultural offer: maximise the usage of The Woodville and the Borough 

Market as community assets.

Total number of patron tickets sold by The Woodville

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

P
age 19



P I  44

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

4,936

 

Annual indicator Annual indicator

Total number of visitors attending Gravesham heritage sites

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

Heritage - Due to the Covid-19 restrictions, the heritage sites have remained closed and re-opening is 

looking uncertain between now and the end of September when the sites would normally close for the 

winter period. The sites have continued to be checked weekly by a volunteer from Thames Defence 

Heritage and a mains water issue connected to the  Milton Chantry has been resolved during the 

lockdown period. 

Arts - At the start of lock down we began to think of ways to not only support local artists, the majority of 

whom are freelance, but to also offer the public some form of creative engagement to help with 

wellbeing. The Make it Arts Grants were devised to offer  support but to also encourage artists to 

continue with their creative practise and develop skills in other areas. A large number of quality 

applications were received and five artists were selected to receive funding. They were, Wendy Daws, 

Tanya Holland Williams, Daisy Ferris & Nicola Flower, Lawrence Camilleri and Ihsan Ahmed. 

Virtual Blake - As the Blake gallery has been closed, a virtual gallery has been created and hosted on 

the Woodville web site. Each Month starting from June, a theme was announced and images were 

requested to be sent via an on-line portal. The first exhibition had 45 entries on the theme of ‘Blooming 

Lovely’. 

Wings Project - The ‘Wings of Happiness’ is a collaborative community arts project that people can take 

part in and develop virtually alongside the lead artist. People are being asked to submit photographs of 

what makes them happy, with the collected images being turned into a winged costume which can be 

illuminated with battery operated lights and paraded as part of a future public event. Depending on 

restrictions, we are planning to deliver accompanying community engagement workshops led by the 

artist working with the public and potentially schools or community groups.

Tourism – Local Tourism and Hospitality businesses had to close and events had to be postponed in 

line with Government guidelines. Constant communication and support has been provided during this 

time in order to ensure businesses were fully informed and updated about the financial support available 

to them through grants, as well as business support via a series of virtual meetings and webinars on 

offer. As access to events and venues was not permitted, the Tourism Team made a greater use of the 

Visit Gravesend social media channels to give visitors a virtual experience of the Borough’s tourism and 

heritage offer, building a strong rapport and keeping engagement alive.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

5. Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage: support local groups in their community reach and 

expand the visitor economy.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 20



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 15.09.20

Reporting officer: Kirsty Gaunt

Subject: Impact of Covid 19 on Gravesham's Community Sector - 
summary of local survey and how they are adapting.

Purpose and summary of report: 
This report provides a summary of a recent survey conducted in partnership with North West 
Kent Council for Voluntary Services of local community organisations in Gravesend.  
Identifying how they have been impacted by Covid 19 and how they are adapting their 
services to meet changing needs. 

Recommendations:
1. That the committee note and comment on the report. 

1. Background

1.1 This report follows a survey of local community organisations at the end of June 
and beginning of July as lockdown measures were being relaxed and shielding 
was coming to an end.  

2. Summary of survey on Impact of Covid 19 on Local community organisations 

2.1 Local community organisations provide a range of services often to the most 
needy and vulnerable in our communities and historically have the ability to react 
and adapt quickly to meet local needs in times of crisis.  From the start of 
lockdown the council has been in close contact with a number of local charities to 
develop specific covid-19 related services and to signpost clients contacting the 
council’s helpline where appropriate.

2.2 An on-line survey provided the opportunity to engage with a larger number of local 
organisations to develop a more in depth understanding of how they have been 
impacted by the pandemic, emerging needs and the challenges ahead.  This 
survey followed on from a countywide survey conducted by the Kent Community 
Foundation. 

2.3 In total 22 responses were received from a range of community organisations, 
faith representatives and community groups.  

Page 21 Agenda Item 6



2

2.4 All organisations had continued to operate throughout the lockdown and had been 
able to respond and adapt quickly to meet needs.  This response is supported by 
the results of the Kent Community Foundation survey of organisations from across 
Kent that found 47% or respondents had experienced an increase in demand for 
their services with 21% seeing a reduction in demand.  All respondents 
experienced an initial surge in demand for support with food, and as lockdown 
extended reported an increasing demand for mental health support.

2.5 All but one organisation that answered the question “has your organisation been 
financially impacted by the pandemic” replied that yes they had equating to 12 out 
of 20 organisations.  4 organisations reported that they had furloughed staff.  22 
organisations had been able to access additional funding but not sufficient to 
cover losses in income and only enough to help in the short term.  

2.6 When asked about changes in the types of support requested, loneliness and 
mental health support were the most reported responses followed by debt, 
benefits and help with finances. Other types of support where demand was 
increasing were employment, housing, relationships, support for carers and 
bereavement.  

2.7 At the time the survey was completed, many organisations were looking forward 
to being able to physically re-open but were waiting on government guidance as to 
how this could be done safely.  Most had positive experiences of delivering 
services and meetings virtually.

3. How services are adapting and how the council is supporting

3.1 All respondents had developed their online provision during lockdown with most 
providing services over the phone or virtually and the responses indicate that this 
has in the main worked well, with organisations planning to continue to adopt 
measures long term.  

3.2 Flexible working practices have been successful for those organisations that have 
been able to work from home with plans to adopt permanently with the potential to 
make savings.  Feedback from one organisation described how having to adapt to 
the lockdown has helped them be more prepared for future emergencies.  

3.3 Virtual engagement has benefitted those activities that draw in participants from a 
large geographical area for example the Gravesham Town Twinning Association 
has been able to hold meetings with representatives from each of the twinning 
partners and there is broad consensus from all respondents to build this into their 
long term plans.  Social media has been vital in getting messages out quickly.

3.4 Funding is clearly a significant concern for all respondents.  Those with funding 
agreements in place did comment that they have found funders to be flexible and 
supportive.  Although many respondents have been able to access emergency 
funding, for many this did not cover losses of income and was only short term.  
Those organisations that are constantly looking for and applying for funding 
advise that the usual funding streams have been diverted to the pandemic 
response so are concerned about their long term financial stability. 

3.5 There has been a fantastic community response to the lockdown with a huge 
volunteering effort to support those in need.  As some organisations suggested, 
there is the potential of tapping into this volunteering response to support 
volunteer recruitment for local organisations for example many charities need to 

Page 22



3

recruit volunteer drivers, befrienders etc., which volunteers have been providing 
throughout lockdown.  

3.6 Those areas where support from the council would be welcome include, easy to 
access funding, office space and advice around interpreting and implementing 
Covid 19 guidance for re-opening.  

3.7 Organisations commented on the good working between agencies since the start 
of the pandemic and were keen that this lasts. 

4. Next steps

4.1 The council is keeping in regular contact with local services and expect needs and 
issues to evolve as more services open up, schools start the new academic year 
and people return to work after the summer break, so this survey will be followed 
up with regular telephone contact with community organisations. 

4.2 The council has set up a community services networking meeting for the end of 
September and will provide an opportunity for information sharing and discussion.  
It is hoped that following this initial meeting they will become a regular occurrence 
and prove to be beneficial.  

4.3 The council is working with North West Kent Volunteer Centre to develop a 
volunteer support programme, tapping into the surge in local volunteering to 
provide accredited training and developing and signposting local volunteering 
opportunities.  

4.4 Following management team recommendations, a strategic review of current 
council funding to community organisations will be conducted.

Page 23



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal n/a

Finance and Value 
for Money 

n/a

Risk Assessment n/a

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan # 2 Place

Climate Change Findings of report support virtual and remote ways of doing business

Crime and Disorder No implications 

Digital and website 
implications

We have been keep the  website updated throughout the pandemic to provide 
accurate information and links to local services and support

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No implications

 

Page 24

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Appendix 2 Copy of the Questionnaire

Coronavirus – how is it impacting on our local community organisations?  

As lockdown restrictions are slowly relaxed we are keen to take stock of what has 
been happening locally in Gravesham, future needs and plans, and how activity 
could be supported moving on.

1. Name of organisation and services offered in Gravesham

2. Have you been operating during Coronavirus? 
If no why?

If yes what services have you been able to provide?  

Are these different to what you would usually provide?

3. Are you able to provide details of demand for your service since the 
lockdown was introduced?  

4. Have you noticed any changes in demand and the type of help 
requested? For example help with finances, mental health, alcohol, 
loneliness

5. Are you planning any changes to the services you are offering? If yes 
when?

6. Has your organisation/ group been financially affected by the 
pandemic?

7. Have you been able to secure additional resources during the 
pandemic?  If yes where was the funding secured from, what has this 
funding enabled you to deliver and how long will it last?  

8. Will you need to secure additional resources to continue delivering 
against anticipated demand?  

Page 25



9. Would you need to secure additional resources to recover from the 
lockdown?  If yes what would this be needed for?

10.Are there any other additional issues you would like to share or discuss 
with the council?

Thank you for helping

Kirsty Gaunt, Community Involvement Officer

Tel 07925 890 825 or e-mail kirsty.gaunt@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 26

mailto:Kirsty.gaunt@gravesham.gov.uk


Appendix 3 Organisations who completed the survey

Organisation Servies provided during lockdown

City Praise Providing a packed lunch service

Holy Family and Ifield CofE Virtual services, pastoral support over the 
phone, taken to and collecting from the 
shops, keeping in touch vial emails, letter, 
You-tube reflections, signposting to support.  
Helped Stronger Communities organisation 
at Warrior Avenue to deliver mental well-
being packs to local teenagers.  

North West Kent Volunteer 
Centre

Befriending service, devleoped a volunteer 
scheme to help the vulnerable with the local 
council

Gurdwara Langar - meals for the vulnerable adapted to 
home delivery.

Youth Ngage Online support, parenting advice, online 
household games, debate, quiz evnings, 
extra tuition, pastoral support, dispute 
resolution, and online workshops

Trac Ministries Online parenting advice, pastoral services, 
prayer sessions, food sharing, counselling, 
mental well-being , information and referrals

Kent Equality Cohesion 
Council

Phone a community friend scheme, help 
and advice over the phone, online events

NWK CVS On-line training, Payroll, Mobile Swap Shop, 
Information, Support, Advice, Project 
Support, Signposting

Alzheimer's and Dementia 
Support Services.  Providing 
home care, Day Care service, 
advice and support, and 24hr 
dementia helpline

Homecare services, advice & support, 24hr 
dementia helpline, befriending service

Gravesham Town Twinning International zoom meetings with twinning 
partners

Crime Prevention Panel  

Gravesham Street Pastors. We 
patrol streets of town centre, 

Not been able to operate as Pubs/clubs and 
most food outlets have been closed

Page 27



listening, caring helping on 
Friday and Saturday nights

Imago - Wellbeing Navigation, 
Young Carers Support, Short 
Breaks and Social Prescribing

All services have continued albeit remotely, 
and extra work taken on behalf of CCG'S

North Kent Mind Digital mental health support services, 
telephone mental health support services

Waterside Parents' Centre We have been providing virtual support via 
our Facebook group with registered families, 
emails and phone contact

CAS Community Solutions Telephone support service for those 
financially affected by COVID-19, including 
those who have lost hours / lost jobs / 
furloughed/ self - employed.

Citizens Advice in North & 
West Kent

All advice services available, including 
specialist advice.

Age UK North West Kent Fresh Meals Delivery : Support Calls : 
Shopping : Prescription collection : Activity 
Packs : Food parcels : Specialised 
Information & Advice : Bathing : Nail cutting 
: Cleaning : Gardening

African Caribbean Forum Kent Online support, Training, meetings and 
Follow up

Home-Start North West Kent Mainly telephone support - by staff and 
volunteers.  Plus food distribution

Page 28



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Committee

Date: 15 September 2020

Reporting officer: Service Manager, Customer & Theatre Services
Cultural Manager

Subject: A Creative Gravesham – An Arts and Cultural Strategy for 
Gravesham 2020-25

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide a copy of the final Art & Culture Strategy

Recommendations:
Committee Members are asked to approve the strategy so that it may be formally 
adopted enabling officers to start exploring areas of work, feasibility and success measures
in more detail.
 

1. Background

1.1 On 3 June Committee Members were presented with a discussion paper on the 
development of an arts and culture strategy for the Borough and asked to agree 
the proposed focus, vision and priorities following a consultation and engagement 
process with residents and members of the creative sector.

1.2 The final strategy has now been developed based on the results of that 
engagement.

2. Recommendation

2.1 Committee Members are asked to approve the strategy so it may be formally 
adopted. 

Page 29 Agenda Item 7



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal There are no legal implications. This is the final strategy based on the draft 
presented in June 2020

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial requirements at this time, although budgetary provision for 
the delivery of the strategy will need to be considered. 

Risk Assessment The Strategy aims to strengthen the position of Gravesham Borough’s art and 
cultural offer within North Kent.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes – the art and culture strategy aims to be inclusive and widen access to 
creative arts and culture across the Borough 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #2 Place – Enhance the borough’s cultural offer

Crime and Disorder n/a

Digital and website 
implications

None

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 30

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


A CREATIVE GRAVESHAM

An Arts and Cultural Strategy for Gravesham 
2020 - 2025

Contents

Introduction and vision 

Context

Priorities

Delivery

Page 31



Introduction by Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, 
Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure

The role of the arts and culture in building strong, 
cohesive communities has long been recognised. 
Cultural activity brings together communities, 
promotes social cohesion, and encourages 
greater civic participation fostering a spirit of 
cooperation and support. We have a diverse 
community in Gravesham across many different 
cultures, socio economic backgrounds, ages and 
philosophical outlooks. In a Borough with such 
diverse communities, the arts and culture have a 
vital role to play in drawing us together.

Gravesham Borough Council recognises the 
importance of arts and culture in creating a 
Borough that people are proud to call home and 
has a long-standing commitment to supporting the 
sector and this Administration made a 

commitment to the people of Gravesham to support and develop our arts and culture 
and showcase the very best of Gravesham’s creative and cultural talent.

The COVID-19 pandemic and the subsequent lockdown hit the arts and culture 
community particularly hard nationwide and has left question marks over the future of 
theatres, galleries, arts projects and community groups as they struggle to recover 
from the financial impact.

Gravesham is home to many artists and arts organisations and Gravesham Borough 
Council recognises the value they bring to our Borough and is committed to 
supporting this sector at this time and working with them to bring great arts and 
culture to Gravesham in the future.

This strategy will play an important role in helping the sector in the Borough not just 
to recover but to develop and thrive with some exciting new initiatives planned and 
reaffirms the council’s unstinting support for all those individuals and organisations 
contributing to what has always been a vibrant and vital part of life in Gravesham

Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox 
Cabinet Member for Community and Leisure

Page 32



INTRODUCTION AND VISION

Arts and Culture in Gravesham have held a central space in the borough for many 
years. Annually the area has a multitude of regular festivals and events attracting a 
large number of residents and, indeed visitors from well beyond the borough lines. 
These activities are as diverse as the Riverside music festival, St George’s day 
celebrations, Eid, Diwali and Chinese New Year. Recently the Fringe Festival and 
Estuary festivals have begun to make their way into the firmament of Gravesham’s 
cultural offer. 

In addition to the landmark activities there are organisations developing and 
presenting work throughout the year. Regular events at the council’s flagship venue, 
The Woodville, range from comedy club to pantomime, music events to award 
winning contemporary drama and they attract a strong audience. The cinema 
audiences have been amongst the first to return after the pandemic lockdown in 
2020 and patrons have been enthusiastic to experience outdoor work whilst the 
venues have been closed. The outdoor venues represent an important part of the 
recovery process for the borough beyond Covid.

Cultural activity is not limited to the large venues, partner organisations such as the 
lightship LV21 (moored at St Andrews Quay), Northfleet Big Local, The Gr@nd 
Healthy Living Centre and NPO’s such as Cohesion + are creating important and 
popular events in Gravesham throughout the year. In addition the Borough Market is 
also developing a strand of arts programming. The creation of Gravesham Arts Salon 
(GAS) in 2016 has brought together many of the artists and creative organisations 
working in the borough. This is a flexible constituted network that has developed 
sufficiently to submit successful funding bids and is an intrinsic part of the delivery of 
this strategy.

Whilst it is true that the umbrella term of ‘Arts and Culture’ can be used to describe 
these activities, and many more enjoyable aspects of living in Gravesham, most of 
those attending are just enjoying the buzz of living in a borough that is fun and 
adventurous and where there is always something happening. 

The prevailing intention of all of Gravesham’s activities has been to work with and for 
the community - a community which is rich and diverse. This strategy will not swerve 
from that intention, rather it will take the building blocks of the last 5 years in which 
over 500,000 people engaged in cultural activities and develop a thriving cultural 
infrastructure for all residents and visitors to enjoy.

Build on the strong legacy of community events and support creativity and 
cultural cohesion within the borough. 

Resident comment

It will recognise the strong foundations that have been laid and build a sustainable 
creative future for Gravesham firmly establishing its position as a cultural lynchpin on 
the North Kent coast. This aim is firmly embedded in the council’s corporate plan. 

This strategy is a plan for the next five years until 2025 and outlines how the aims 
identified can be achieved with strong leadership and aspiration and partnerships 

Page 33



with key organisations in our borough. The strategy is ambitious but realistic and 
must be a living document that can adapt and grow with the times. 

To ensure that this strategy remains relevant and focused it will be reviewed 
regularly, action plans will be drawn up annually and the reporting of results will be 
part of the council’s annual review.

Make it in Gravesham has been developed consulting with our residents and visitors, 
our artists and our creative partners, our businesses and community organisations 
and we will continue to consult and work with them throughout the life of this strategy 
to keep it vibrant and relevant in the coming decade.

VISION

This strategy has been developed in consultation with residents, partners, local 
business and the wider cultural sector. The vision and priorities have been identified 
through surveys and steering groups and are embedded within the council’s 
corporate plan and other relevant strategies. 

‘Gravesham will be the cultural and artistic hub of North Kent. Defined 
by a thriving artistic community and a diverse, innovative and 

accessible programme of events for residents and visitors to enjoy.’

Page 34



CONTEXT

To develop and deliver a strategy during a period of turmoil and upheaval is to be 
given the opportunity to see the world anew, to recognise our strengths and our 
abilities and to emerge with a flexible and visionary plan for our future. In order to 
ensure that we are aligned across the borough, the nation and the sector we have 
created the arts and culture strategy paying particular attention to the strategies that 
surround it and the responses of our residents and partners.

Strategic Position

Gravesham Borough Council Corporate Plan

The arts and culture have been established as aims within the council’s corporate 
plan. The vision of the overall plan is to ‘deliver a Gravesham to be proud of’ with 3 
overarching objectives – People, Place and Progress . The Place objective identifies 
the council’s commitments to arts and culture. 

Place – Gravesham has a proud heritage and benefits from a strong, diverse local 
community. The plan has committed to a connected community with the following 
cultural assurances.

 Enhancing the borough’s cultural offer.
 Promoting Gravesham’s arts and heritage.

Gravesham is a borough of significant cultural heritage with a strong sense of 
community, something that the council commits to nurture in delivering a place where 
people want to live, work and enjoy. The council recognizes that it has the 
opportunity to bring people together, helping to consult, educate and celebrate in 
building a cohesive community. This identity extends to the cultural sector and the 
council understands the fundamental role that arts and culture will play in shaping a 
Gravesham for the future. These commitments are brought together to embed a 
responsibility to further develop the borough’s physical heritage and strong arts offer.

In addition to the direct references to enhancing the borough’s arts, culture and 
heritage offer the council are driving forward an ambitious town centre regeneration 
agenda that includes the creation of new outdoor spaces as well as a performance 
venue including a 500 seat theatre, cinema and studio space.

The arts and culture strategy will be delivered as part of a large volume of strategic 
work being undertaken by the council including the heritage and tourism strategy and 
the Gravesham Borough Market strategy

Arts Council England (ACE)

In recent years we have worked with ACE to further enhance the arts and cultural 
offer in our borough. We have had success with funding for one off projects such as 
Gravesham Riverside Fringe and we enjoy an open dialogue with the arts council. 
We have created the arts and culture strategy with the new Arts Council plan – Let’s 
Create 2020 – 2030. We have recognised where we have the opportunity to work 
with our community and ACE to develop our arts and culture offer responding to the 
outcomes identified in Let’s Create

Page 35



 Creative People 
 Cultural Communities 
 A Creative and cultural country 

A town where people from outside the borough would recognise Gravesend as 
a town that is defined in a large part by its inclusive and vibrant creative and 

cultural identity. 

Resident comment

Kent County Council

Kent County Council published their 10 year cultural ambition for Kent in 2017 with 
the vision that ‘by 2027 Kent will be a confident, vibrant county, where extraordinary 
cultural activity is available that enriches and transforms the lives of everyone’ 

KCC have identified three key actions to support this vision

 Create – supporting and enabling the presentation of excellent art and the 
growth of world class creative productivity

 Innovate – developing original and creative ideas, encouraging creative 
leadership and supporting skills and learning

 Sustain – delivering access to finance, support for businesses, smarter ways 
of working, and empowering entrepreneurship.

Culture for any age promoting creativity, alternative art/music and the town 
itself.

Resident comment

Arts Partners and Colleagues

Gravesham is home to many exciting artists and creatives and we have been very 
active in recent years in developing our relationships with our arts partners. The arts 
and cultural strategy has been formed in consultation with those colleagues to 
ensure that we can deliver a holistic and realistic plan for the next five years with 
partner and community involvement at its core.

Gravesham is home to 39 creative businesses including the Panic Rooms, a cluster 
of escape rooms representing the largest in the country. The London Resort is also 
in development which has the potential to bring more creative business into the area.

Page 36



Gravesham [could be] a place where multicultural artists across all genres are 
supported to make , develop and show their work and where the cultural offer 

for audiences and participants is always exciting and varied.

Partner comment

Response to context 

Make it in Gravesham, the arts and culture strategy has responded the context of our 
world in 2020 and developed the following key priorities. 

 Growing a cultural and creative community
 Supporting and developing artists and creatives
 Developing a vibrant and aspirational arts and cultural events programme
 Enhancing and promoting our assets and heritage
 Developing our children and young people creatively.

In developing these priorities we have listened to our residents and partners through 
the engagement we have undertaken and recognised the synergy with relevant 
strategies We believe that they represent aims that are achievable and sustainable 
and we look forward to delivering them with our partners and our community. 

Page 37



PRIORITIES

The council is committed to ensuring that the cultural offer of the borough reflects its 
diversity and vibrancy. This strategy is the first step towards achieving this and the 
priorities that have been identified are as a result of our engagement with our 
residents and our artists community.
Delivering on those priorities with a detailed plan and time frame throughout the life 
of this strategy will support the cultural assurances within the corporate plan.

Growing a cultural and creative community 

Gravesham is home to some incredible artists and arts organisations who, in turn are 
working with our communities to expand our offer making it accessible, vibrant and 
interesting and makes everyone feel included. We will work with our regeneration 
partners to establish arts and culture in our built environment. We will embed our 
cultural vision in our policies and develop our community through in the following 
ways.

o Continually explore opportunities for arts and culture around the 
Borough

o Establishing overarching recognition of the value of arts and culture in 
the borough throughout council policy. Striving to reinforce the cultural 
agenda centrally as a vehicle for stronger place making and 
community cohesion.

o Develop a cluster of ‘Make it’ spaces for artists to make, exhibit and 
present work as well as develop their own artistic practice. The work 
on this has already begun with the St Georges and St Andrews arts 
centre

.
o Establishing a new theatre space for Gravesham that is fit for purpose 

and provides a cultural community hub for the borough whilst ensuring 
high quality accessible creative content. Part of the St Georges 
regeneration programme

o Developing a cultural environment that is no longer solely confined by 
access to buildings and venues. Responding to the pandemic to 
ensure our plans are resilient and flexible.

o Establish an Artist in Residence Scheme – we will establish a scheme 
for artists to work in Gravesham with our community developing their 
practice and giving our residents and visitors high quality experiences 
and opportunities.

o Develop the skills and diversity of our cultural workforce and that of 
our partners

o Create a volunteer network to support cultural events and the heritage 
sector and to enhance knowledge and enthusiasm for our assets. 

Page 38



To have a reputation as a destination for lovers of the arts, such that people 
will travel here for major events and be happy to visit knowing they will find 

something of interest on offer. 

Partner comment

Supporting and developing artists and creatives

Gravesham is home to many exciting artists and creatives with many more planning 
to relocate to the area. We wish to make a home for artists where they are central to 
the place making and success of the borough. 

o Establishing a grant funding programme for local artists and creatives 
that can make a real difference to the work that is produced. We will 
do this with meaningful grants for artists to make work in Gravesham 
that has relevance to our community.

o Supporting local artists through grants and resources to work in 
partnership with GBC culture to leverage in funding from other 
sources to support work developed in and for Gravesham. This strand 
of work will be to exploit the opportunities that are on offer to ensure 
that we are driving our cultural agenda and bringing significant 
additional value to the community.

o Working with our creative businesses and partners to help freelance 
practitioners grow their practice and take SME’s to the next level 
supporting sustainability.

o Create a directory of assets, artists and creatives to establish joined 
up thinking within the sector, greater inclusivity for all groups and 
better understanding of the offer in the community. We will build on 
the Gravesham Arts Salon model to encourage our artists and 
creatives to work in partnership both within the borough and over the 
borders to bring great experiences to our community.

o Ensuring that the live experience remains central to the programme of 
events at our venues whilst learning from and embracing digital 
platforms and ‘comet’ thinking. This sector has been stricken 
exponentially with the pandemic and we are committing to identifying 
new ways to deliver the live experience.

Attendance by diverse vibrant communities, fun events for families/ young 
children, promoting trust and creativity 

Resident comment

Page 39



Establishing a vibrant and aspirational arts and cultural events programme. 

Building on the work that has been established over a number of years we have the 
opportunity to create a festival town. With the pandemic making outdoor activity the 
most secure option for audiences we will develop that into annual festivals of events.

o Building on existing programmes to establish an annual festival of arts 
and culture in the summer months

o Accessing other funding streams to build in resilience and 
sustainability of our offer. 

o Ensuring that the diversity that defines the borough is reflected in all 
our activities

o Encouraging and supporting the enthusiasm for accessing culture 
across new platforms to develop live/as live festivals

o Creating a culture card that offers residents access to cultural events 
and activities and embeds knowledge of the sector.

o Ensuring all events are working towards and low carbon borough
 

Build on the strong legacy of community events and support creativity and 
cultural cohesion within the borough. 

Resident comment

Enhancing and promoting our assets and heritage

o Embed creative delivery and learning opportunities into our open 
spaces, built heritage locations and River. Creating new ways of 
interpreting our unique heritage

o Developing an annual series of events that showcase our unique 
heritage in an innovative way, becoming part of our annual festival 
programme.

o Enabling our built heritage locations to enhance the visitor experience 
by developing exciting and engaging displays, exhibitions and 
interpretation

Thriving. Lots of history but forward looking too. Genuine preservation and 
celebration of our architecture and heritage. 

Residents comment

Page 40



Developing our children and young people creatively

o Working with youth groups to ensure that our young people are given 
the chance to work effectively within the creative sector.

o Developing specific funding stream of grants for young people which 
can be used to leverage in funding from external organisations. 

o Working with schools and young people to develop artists in all genres 
for the future; encouraging new working practices and including digital 
platforms

o Working with artists and creatives in the borough to develop an 
educational/learning offer within the cultural delivery programme.

o Working with schools to enable all young people to experience live/as 
live performance through our programmes and workshops

I would love to think there would clearly be on offer thriving examples of arts, 
theatre, film, learning the above, using our outside and inside spaces for all 

ages, possibly including work with local schools and other education 
establishments. For all ages and cultures in Gravesham to offer and share 

combined entertainment. We have so much we could learn from each other. I 
look forward to it.

Resident comment

DELIVERY

To ensure that this strategy remains relevant and focused it will be reviewed 
regularly, action plans will be drawn up annually and the reporting of results will be 
part of the council’s annual review.

Responsibility for developing the action plans and monitoring delivery will be led by 
the Cultural Manager with support from the Service Manager, Customer & Theatre 
Services.  Regular reporting of progress will be made to the Council’s Management 
Team and to the Cabinet Member for Community and Leisure.

Page 41



RESIDENT QUOTES

Cultural and creative hub of North West Kent.

A broad river based calendar of events throughout the year making Gravesham 
one of the top places to visit from London and the South East.

Vibrant leader with events that are known & attended from across the County & 
surrounding Counties

PARTNER COMMENTS

To have a reputation as a destination for lovers of the arts, such that people 
will travel here for major events and be happy to visit knowing they will find 

something of interest on offer. 

Page 42



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 15 September 2020

Reporting officer: Tourism and Town Twinning Manager
Assistant Director (Communities)
 

Subject: Draft Tourism and Heritage Strategy

Purpose and summary of report: 
To report a draft Tourism and Heritage Strategy for Gravesham.

Recommendations:
1. That the Cabinet Committee makes their views known on the draft Tourism and 

Heritage Strategy for Gravesham, its key themes and priority actions.

1. A Tourism and Heritage Strategy for Gravesham

1.1 This draft strategy (Appendix 2) aims to capitalise on the opportunities for 
developing Gravesham’s visitor and heritage offer to the benefit to the local 
economy. Consultation has begun to take place with local tourism, heritage and 
hospitality businesses and this draft will assist in that.  An action plan will be 
developed alongside this strategy, to be reviewed on a regular basis.  Priorities for 
action are currently highlighted in the document.

1.2 Covid 19 has had and is still having a significant impact on the visitor economy 
nationally and in Gravesham many visitor and heritage sites remain closed and 
where they are open the numbers of visitors has dropped significantly.

1.3 Visitor accommodation, restaurants and shops have now reopened, but there is 
still uncertainty around the longer term impact on the visitor economy.  More 
people are currently deciding to remain closer to home and staycations may mean 
that people are looking to discover what is on their doorstep or slightly further 
afield.  This could be beneficial for Gravesham and an opportune time to promote 
the borough’s attractions more effectively to this audience.

1.4 The prospect of London Resort, which is currently being consulted upon, has the 
potential to change the way visitors perceive this area and we need to understand 
what impact that may have on investment into this sector for visits and stays 
‘beyond the park’.  These can be incorporated into this strategy and the action 
plan as they become better known.

Page 43 Agenda Item 8



2

2. BACKGROUND PAPERS

2.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 44



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal No implications at this stage

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Not applicable at this stage

Risk Assessment This report is a positive action to raise the profile of Gravesham as a tourism 
destination and bring economic benefits to the Borough.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #2 Place - a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community.
Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage:  support local groups and community 
reach and expand the visitor economy

Climate Change No implications

Crime and Disorder No implications

Digital and website 
implications

Promotion of our key themes and priorities will be delivered through the Visit 
Gravesend website and social media channels. 

Page 45

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No implications

Page 46



1 | P a g e

Appendix 2

Tourism & Heritage Strategy
1. Introduction

1.1 Tourism is worth an estimated £110 million to the Gravesham economy and an 
estimated 2512 jobs are supported by this tourism expenditure (Source: 
Cambridge Model, 2017).  Despite that benefit to the local economy Gravesham 
attracts a disproportionate low share (approximately only 4%) of Kent’s visitors 
and hence their expenditure and derived employment.

1.2 This is primarily due to Gravesham having a small stock of visitor accommodation 
and a limited number of commercial visitor attractions, both of which would help to 
attract visitors and increase expenditure in the Borough. 

1.3 The potential for tourism to contribute more to the local economy is recognised by 
the Council with emphasis within its Corporate Plan. The overall aim of the 
strategy is: To be proud of and promote and preserve Gravesham’s identity, 
history, heritage, art and culture, including its assets, in order to develop and 
enhance our tourism offer that can contribute towards economy and safeguard our 
heritage for future generations. 

Gravesham Corporate Plan

#2 Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community.

Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage:  Support local groups in their 
community reach and expand the visitor economy.

1.4 This strategy identifies Gravesham’s priorities in respect of tourism and heritage to 
align with the Corporate Plan to 2023.

1.5 Partnership working with tourism agencies, businesses and the voluntary sector is 
critical to growing the visitor economy and valuing the Borough’s heritage.  This 
requires a commitment to a shared vision in support securing additional resources 
and investment.

2. Gravesham - Connected for Visitors

2.1 Gravesham has many locational advantages:

High Speed links to London St Pancras, excellent rail connections to London 
Charing Cross, London Victoria and other Kent destinations, including the Kent 
coast.

Proximity to Ebbsfleet International Station with Eurostar connectivity to 
Continental Europe.

Page 47



2 | P a g e

Ease of connection to the national highway network via the A2/M2, M20 and M25, 
to the Channel Tunnel, Kent’s ports and national airports.

Gravesend’s historic role as the gateway to the Port of London on the River 
Thames, connection to the London International Cruise Terminal and plans for 
river commuter services.

Starting point/way mark for long distance walks and cycle routes - the Weald Way 
(Gravesend to Eastbourne), Saxon Shore Way (Gravesend to Rye), North Downs 
Way and National Cycle Route 1.

Historic crossing point of the Thames between Kent and Essex via the Gravesend 
& Tilbury Ferry.

High quality landscapes, characterful villages and heritage interest within the Kent 
Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and surrounding countryside.

2.2 Gravesham is well placed to benefit from tourism, primarily for day visitors but with 
the potential to increase short stay visits, in guest accommodation and stays with 
friends and family.

2.3 Whilst progress is being made to develop Gravesham’s offer to visitors, it has yet 
to fully capitalise on the advantages of its location. These advantages make it 
possible for the area to become better known as a destination and as a base for a 
visit to London and Kent.

3. Gravesham’s Distinctive Qualities, Heritage and Assets

3.1 The Borough’s historic associations, buildings, landmarks and parks define 
Gravesham’s ‘story’ and are what makes Gravesham distinctive and attractive.  
They are the subject of immense local and civic pride and create a framework for 
strengthening Gravesham’s local culture.  Together they comprise a unique offer 
for visitors to the area. 

Gravesham’s heritage and visitor assets comprise:

The Thames riverside and its history around shipping, immigration etc.

Strong associations with important historic figures, including Charles Dickens, 
Pocahontas, General Gordon and others.

A unique ‘cluster’ of defence heritage, associated with the protection of London - 
New Tavern Fort, Shornemead Fort, the Woodlands Cold War bunker, Gravesend 
Blockhouse.

Industrial heritage derived from its Thames-side position and as a cradle of 
innovation in cement, paper, power and engineering.

Exceptional countryside with the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
Thames Estuary and popular country parks at Shorne Woods, Trosley, Camer 
Park and Jeskyns Forestry Park.

Page 48



3 | P a g e

Historic landscapes at Cobham Park, Ashenbank Woods and Mausoleum, 
Cobham Hall.

Characterful rural settlements at Cobham, Luddesdown, Lower Higham, Sole 
Street and Meopham.

Gad’s Hill Place – the home of Charles Dickens.

Cultural diversity with a range of cultural and community and the largest Sikh 
Gurdwara complex in Europe.

A strengthening cluster of arts and cultural activity.

An expanding ‘experiential’ visitor offer, including the open air multi-sport centre at 
Cyclopark and Panic Room’s cluster of escape rooms in Gravesend Town Centre.

Gravesham’s leisure and entertainment facilities 

3.2 Despite the variety and strengths of Gravesham’s heritage, qualities and assets, 
as things stand, Gravesham is lacking a concentrated cluster of commercial visitor 
and heritage attractions which would help develop the visitor economy further.

3.3 The operation of heritage sites in the Borough rely heavily on volunteers and most 
of these open seasonally and often only for a couple a days a week or as with 
Gad’s Hill Place and Cobham Hall during school holidays. 

3.4 Gravesham has a series of strong heritage themes which can create an attractive 
offer for visitors, but it will be those visitor attractions which are open throughout 
the year, especially within the expanding ‘experiential’ sector, together with 
additional visitor accommodation, which will contribute to a growing visitor 
economy.

3.5 Part of Gravesham’s draw to visitors is the town centre, its independent/distinctive 
businesses and its strengthening arts and cultural offer, including the Woodville 
theatre/cinema programme.

3.6 Given the disparate nature of Gravesham’s offer, supporting data as to why 
people visit, needs to be collated more effectively.

3.7 Clarity as to why people are visiting and how that might change, can be 
strengthened through the undertaking of some branding work to define the 
Borough’s messaging and marketing going forward.

4. Planning Policy Framework – Tourism and Heritage

4.1 The Gravesham Local Plan, as the development framework for the future of the 
Borough, recognises the role that tourism and heritage have to the Gravesham 
economy, specifically Town Centre regeneration and sustainable rural 
diversification.

4.2 Policy CS09 – Culture & Tourism – applies a sequential approach to the provision 
of new tourist facilities appropriate to their location and accessibility; supports 
proposals which meet the diversity of Gravesham as a multi-cultural community; 
and, supports sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments that benefit rural 

Page 49



4 | P a g e

businesses, communities and visitors, compatible to countryside protection 
policies.

4.3 The Local Plan also encourages a positive approach to the Borough’s historic 
environment to ensure that the historic character and distinctiveness of the 
Borough is conserved and enhanced, especially within an area of significant 
change, investment and development.  The Borough’s key heritage assets are 
recognised as including:

4.3.1 300 plus Listed Buildings of which a significant number are of local historic 
and/or architectural value.

4.3.2 23 Conservation Areas

4.3.3 9 Scheduled Monuments

4.3.4 Historic landscapes, landscape features, parks and gardens

4.3.5 Known archaeological sites and areas of archaeological significance

4.4 Policy CS20 – Heritage and the Built Environment – gives high priority towards the 
preservation, protection and enhancement of its heritage and historic 
environment.  This is especially so where their interpretation contributes to the 
distinct identify of the Borough. 

5. Opportunities to Expand the Visitor Economy

5.1 Gravesham is responding constructively to the opportunities that are coming 
forward to expand the local visitor economy:

Plans to extend fast river services to and from Central London, provision for 
visiting leisure craft and growing numbers of visitors from the International Cruise 
Terminal – these have the potential to renew the contribution that the River can 
make to bringing visitors into the area and reinforce what is considered to be 
Gravesham’s unique selling point.

New rail and road infrastructure, including the potential extension of Crossrail and 
the Lower Thames crossing.

The Council’s plans for regeneration of Gravesend Town Centre will revitalise and 
create a broader mix of entertainment, leisure and restaurants in the Town, 
together with additional hotel development.

The Council’s cultural strategy highlights and strengthens the Borough’s cultural 
offer, creating new performance, gallery spaces, and creative workspaces and 
hosting artistic commissions in support of the major arts festivals – England’s 
Creative Coast and Estuary 2021.

Ebbsfleet Garden City on the western edge of the Borough is bringing more 
people to live and work in the area, stimulating new business opportunities and 
visitor growth.

Proposals for the London Resort entertainment resort is a ‘game changer’ in 
attracting visitor numbers and expanding visitor accommodation in the area.  The 
challenge will be to attract visitor spend beyond the Resort.

Page 50



5 | P a g e

New cycling and walking routes connecting countryside, villages and the urban 
area, enabling visitors to explore in a more sustainable and environmentally 
friendly way - “The Last Mile”.

5.2 Together, these add considerable confidence to Gravesham’s ability to grow 
tourism as part of its overall ambition for a vibrant and productive economy.

6. The Importance of Tourism to the Gravesham Economy

6.1 Nationally, tourism and heritage are important drivers of economic growth and 
regeneration; they have the potential to attract other investment and to support a 
variety of work, volunteering and skills development opportunities.  The tourism 
sector is the fifth largest contributor to the national economy. 

6.2 The most recent research undertaken in 2017 (Source: Cambridge Model) 
concluded that the volume and value of tourism activity in the Gravesham 
economy can be summarised as follows:

£110m generated by tourism activity for local businesses

2512 jobs supported 

2 million visits per year; made up of 189,000 staying trips and 1.8 million day trips

Out of the 189,000 staying trips, 79% were domestic visitors and 21% were 
overseas visitors.

The main visitor expenditure is on food & drink, accommodation and shopping.

6.3 Day visits overwhelmingly dominate the pattern of trips for Gravesham.  Short 
stays represent around 10% of visits, predominantly social and friends and family 
stays, with some business stays and visits to London.  The priority is to increase 
the volume of stays and to expand overnight stays, raising the area’s profile for 
visits from further afield, including international visits.

6.4 Visitor figures demonstrate that Gravesham has the smallest visitor economy 
within Kent and attracts a disproportionate low share (approximately 4%) of Kent’s 
visitors, their expenditure and derived employment.  Given the size of the local 
economy relative to other Kent Districts, Gravesham ought to be looking to 
increase the value of tourism to at least 6% of Kent’s visitors. From these figures, 
it is clear that the full capability of Gravesham to contribute more to Kent’s visitor 
economy has yet to be realised.

6.5 The aim of this strategy is therefore to take steps to expand this part of the 
economy.  The key priorities being to expand visitor accommodation and add 
more to its attractions, especially where they support local investment and 
expenditure.

Page 51



6 | P a g e

7. Visitor Accommodation

7.1 The current stock of visitor accommodation in Gravesham is as made up of the 
following:

Accommodation Type Total Bedrooms

Hotels 370

B&B, Guest Houses 44

Pubs & Inns 24

Self-Catering (inc AirBnB = 57 as at Aug 2020) 78

Total 516

9%
4%

5%

72%

11%

B&B and Guest Houses
Self-catering
Pub Stays
Hotels
Air BnB Accommodation

Gravesham Visitor Accommodation %age

7.2 Recent trends have shown the decline in national standard grading schemes, with 
their replacement by customer online reviews; additional hotel development with 
an expansion of the Premier Inn at Woodlands Park and a new Travelodge at 
Coldharbour Road (61 bedrooms) which opened in 2019.  The rise of AirBnB 
accommodation has seen the introduction of approximately 57 bedrooms in 
Gravesham, with 50% of those being single rooms as opposed to multi-bedroom 
properties.

7.3 The changes taking place and greater options on offer when it comes to bookable 
visitor accommodation are having a dramatic impact on visitor preferences and 
behaviour and in some circumstances visitor experiences are being promoted 
alongside accommodation bookings.

7.4 There has also been growth in visitor accommodation surrounding the Borough, 
notably with the new Spring River Ebbsfleet (Marstons – 104 bedrooms).

Page 52



7 | P a g e

The Ebbsfleet Garden City is accommodating some additional visitor 
accommodation adjoining the Borough to the west, currently in the form of 
pub/hotels.  The Implementation Plan (https://ebbsfleetdc.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2017/04/Ebbsfleet-Implementation-Framework.pdf) identifies 
45,750 sm of hotel development over the duration of the plan.

7.5 Proposals for London Resort – “A world-class, sustainable, next generation 
entertainment resort” - have become clearer through the recent consultation 
(August 2020) as part of the Development Planning Order process.  

In matters of accommodation provision it comprises the following:

 Four hotels providing family, upmarket, luxury and themed accommodation 
totalling up to 3,550 suites.

 Up to 500 apartments for London Resort workers, typically consisting of 4-
6 bedrooms and shared kitchen and lounge facilities.

7.6 Hotels report great variations in their occupancy, albeit figures are difficult to come 
by on a consistent basis.

7.7 Traditionally, hotel demand has been focused alongside the A2 corridor, but the 
prospect for this to change with greater interest in the Town Centre, including 
proposals for an 88 bed hotel in St George’s Phase 2, benefitting from the 
connectivity that Highspeed 1 brings the Town.

7.8 Ensuring the quality of visitor accommodation in the Borough remains an issue 
with the decline in national grading systems.  The Kent Charter was set-up in 
2012 to create the opportunity for accommodation to sign-up to local standards, 
and whilst a number of Gravesham businesses have signed-up to this, it has not 
been widely adopted. 

7.9 The following priority actions for visitor accommodation have been identified 
during the strategy period:

7.9.1 Participation in the Kent Hotel Accommodation Study being undertaken by 
CCCU, Visit Kent and Locate in Kent to identify the potential for visitor 
accommodation growth.

7.9.2 Support new visitor accommodation across the board, especially hotel 
development within the Town Centre.  Seek to address gaps in other forms 
of visitor accommodation, including glamping, camping and caravanning, 
especially where that supports other ambitions within this strategy.

7.9.3 Work with local accommodation providers to encourage provision of quality 
visitor accommodation and where possible sign-up to the Kent Charter.

7.9.4 Assess the impacts that residential development and new hotel 
development in the Ebbsfleet Garden City and proposals for London 
Resort and understand how these will effect scope for investment in 
additional visitor accommodation in Gravesham.

7.9.5 Explore opportunities for business/conference tourism associated with 
Gravesham’s enhanced connectivity.

Page 53

https://ebbsfleetdc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Ebbsfleet-Implementation-Framework.pdf
https://ebbsfleetdc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Ebbsfleet-Implementation-Framework.pdf


8 | P a g e

8. Visitor & Heritage Attractions

8.1 Gravesham has a diverse range of heritage and visitor attractions within the 
following, at times overlapping ‘themes’:

8.1.1 Exceptional countryside and characterful villages, with extensive swathes 
of the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and the 
North Kent Marshes, including internationally important wetland areas; 
Kent’s most visited Country Park at Shorne Woods and others at Trosley 
and Jeskyns.

8.1.2 Sport and activity based visits –Cyclopark (national multi-sports centre), 
walking, horse riding, cycling, long distance footpaths – Saxon Shore Way, 
North Downs Way, weald Way and cycleways/Sustrans; future and new 
leisure facilities in the borough.

8.1.3 Heritage properties - small cluster of National Trust properties including 
Cobham Mausoleum, Owletts and the Yeoman’s House, Sole Street; .

8.1.4 Strong association with historic characters – Charles Dickens, living his 
last years at Gad’s Hill Place, Higham (1856-1870) and his links with 
Cobham, Higham and countryside; Pocahontas and Gravesend’s part in 
her story; General Charles Gordon and his influential time in Gravesend.

8.1.5 Faith based visits - The largest Sikh Gurdwara complex in Europe 
attracting visitors interested in the faith, the building, Sikh heritage and 
major festivals; historic church buildings, e.g. St George’s, Gravesend, St 
Mary Magdalene, Cobham and it fine collection of medieval brasses; St 
Mary’s Lower Higham now in the hands of the Churches Conservation 
Trust.

8.1.6 Defence related heritage attractions - telling a story of the defence of 
London and the River over many centuries, including New Tavern Fort and 
Milton Chantry Heritage Centre, Gravesend Blockhouse, Woodlands Park 
Cold War Bunker Shornemead Fort.

8.1.7 A new generation of visitor experiences - represented in Gravesend by 
The Panic Room – one of the first escape rooms in Kent and what is 
believed to be the largest cluster of rooms in the UK.  Typically, registers 
as within the top 10 of fun and games attractions in Kent.

8.1.8 An emerging cluster of creative and performance spaces ranging from The 
Woodville to the new St George’s creative space, St Andrew’s and LV21 
Light Vessel, with the potential to inspire the use of other spaces within 
Gravesend Borough Market and Gravesend Library for creative activity.

8.2 The majority of these are accessible on an infrequent basis, often seasonally, 
independently run, reliant on their operation by volunteers and predominantly non-
commercial.  Consequently, whilst they offer diverse interest to the visitor, they 
have a small scale economic impact on their own.

8.3 Greater gains to the visitor economy have taken place in recent years with the 
impact of additional more commercial attractions, such as the Panic Room and 
Cyclopark and those that by their sheer scale attract larger visitor numbers – Guru 
Nanak Durbar Gurdwara.

Page 54



9 | P a g e

8.4 Ongoing challenge to collect visitor data from local businesses and organisations.

8.5 Greater co-ordination and promotion between these ‘attractions’ under specific 
themes and through co-ordination of openings for small groups and itineraries 
helps to overcome issues of infrequent opening.  Establishment of the Gravesham 
Accredited Tour Guides and development of guided tours creates additional 
opportunities for group visits to overcome some of the weaknesses in openings.  
More can be done to generate income, train volunteers and to add value to a visit.

8.6 The London Resort proposals comprise the following:

 A Leisure Core, comprising a range of events spaces, themed rides and 
attractions, entertainment venues, theatres and cinemas, developed in 
landscaped settings in two phases.

 A ‘Conferention’ Centre (i.e. a combined conference and convention 
centre) with a floor area of up to 11,000 m2.

 A linked building hosting a range of eSports, video and computer gaming 
events, with a total floor space of up to 16,500 m2.

 A Back of House area accommodating many of the necessary supporting 
technical and logistical operations to enable the London Resort to function.

 This also includes a new access road from the A2 and arrival of visitors via 
the River.  This Resort has the potential to dramatically change the nature 
of the visitor economy locally, subject to understanding the demand for 
staying ‘beyond the park’ and extending visits locally, if not only with 
friends and family in the area, which is an important aspect of visitors stays 
currently.

8.7 The following priority actions for attraction development have been identified 
during the strategy period:

8.7.1 Continue to encourage the opening of Gad’s Hill Place to visitors and 
steps being taken by the Charles Dickens Heritage Trust to open the 
building as a Heritage Centre.

8.7.2 Work with faith communities to provide hospitality and a welcome at the 
Guru Nanak Darbar Gurdwara, St George’s Church, Gravesend and at 
other church and faith based venues.

8.7.3 Takes steps to enhance the interpretation of Pocahontas’ story through 
working with St George’s Church and the St George’s Phase 2 town centre 
regeneration proposals.

8.7.4 Recognise the growth and attraction of ‘experiential’ visits with themed 
guided visits/tours, a focus on culture, food and drink, river trips, sports 
tourism, etc.

8.7.5 Understand the implications of the London Resort proposals on the visitor 
economy and wider Gravesham economy.

8.7.6 Collection of data from local businesses and organisation in order to 
identify and understand our visitor markets better.

Page 55



10 | P a g e

9. Gravesham’s Diverse Culture, Festivals & Events

9.1 For a Borough of its size, Gravesham hosts a diverse variety of events and 
festivals.  Many of these are community focused events, but a number have the 
potential to attract visitors from further afield, such as St George’s Day Parade 
(April), Vaisakhi parade (April), Riverside Festival (July), the annual Fireworks 
display (November) and Christmas events.  

9.2 Alongside these the council seeks to work with partners, including Visit Kent, to 
ensure a presence in the county wide visitor campaign - Big Kent Day Out 
(March), English Tourism Week (March) and Heritage Open Days (September).

9.3 The Borough is also well placed to figure in national cultural festivals which are 
designed to inspire creativity in the context of the coast and estuary – Estuary 
2021 and England’s Creative Coast.

9.4 Covid-19 safe responses are influencing the operation of Gravesham’s attractions 
and it is events, festivals and activities, which are taking place outdoors, that will 
likely draw visitors at this point in time.

9.5 Festivals and events have the potential to add to Gravesham’s visitor appeal, but 
need to be planned and promoted effectively to take into account the wider visitor 
audience.

9.6 The following priority actions for attraction development have been identified 
during the strategy period:

9.6.1 Review and confirmation of the Borough’s events programming post 
Covid-19 to recognise the role that they may have in attracting more 
visitors to the Borough.

9.6.2 Capitalise on the large scale cultural events planned for the Thames 
Estuary and Creative Coast in the coming years. 

9.6.3 Promote the Borough’s strong cultural attraction through its events and 
supplement with other guided visits, trails and interpretation.

10. Marketing & Promotion

10.1 A website presence and social media dominate the way in which Gravesham, as a 
visitor destination, is marketed and promoted.  Opportunities will exist to promote 
even more effectively Gravesham’s visitor offer as it strengthens and develops.  
Gravesham’s visitor themes of riverside, countryside, activity and defence history 
are strong, but it is the exposure that the larger attractions, such as the Panic 
Room, Cyclopark and Gurdwara have to raise awareness of the area to the visitor.

10.2 Gravesham is a member of Kent’s Destination Management Organisation (DMO), 
Visit Kent, which takes a lead in marketing Kent as a visitor destination with 
associated campaigns and promotional activity.

10.3 In respect of more local promotional activity:

10.3.1 The Visitor Information Point in Gravesend Borough Market provides an 
excellent resource for information and advice and a welcome to the area.  
It is the hub of social media activity. 

Page 56



11 | P a g e

10.3.2 Use is made of a variety of websites to promote local events, attractions 
and accommodation through Visit Gravesend (www.visitgravesend.co.uk), 
Visit Kent, Tourism South East and Visit Britain websites.

10.3.3 Visit Gravesend has really developed its presence on social media and its 
engagement with the audience has proven a very positive promotional 
tool.  

10.3.4 Itineraries, group tours and packages have been developed for the visitor 
and are promoted.

10.3.5 The council has a wide range of leaflets promoting local attractions and 
heritage, including their yearly Visit Gravesend Tourism Guide.

10.4 The council’s tourism network of local visitor attractions and accommodation aims 
to co-operate in sharing information and promoting the local visitor economy more 
effectively. Engaging other partners in greater collaborative marketing efforts is 
key, e.g. Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), National Trust, 
Shorne Woods Country Park (Kent County Council), Jeskyns Farm (Forestry 
Commission), etc. but resources are limited.

10.5 Opportunities are taken through Gravesham’s Town Twinning relationships to 
raise awareness of the Borough where possible and visits thought its partners in 
Cambrai (France), Neumunster (Germany), Chesterfield (Virginia, USA) and 
Jalandhar (India).

10.6 The following priority actions have been identified:

10.6.1 Confirm Gravesham’s key themes, especially those which attract larger 
visitor numbers such as Experience/Activity; Countryside; Faith/Gurdwara; 
Heritage. These can be honed further through a wider branding exercise 
which the council is intending to undertake to capture key messaging for 
promoting the borough.

10.6.2 Expand the Gravesham tourism network, where appropriate, to strengthen 
co-operative working, especially in respect of co-ordination of marketing 
and openings.

10.6.3 Make the most of existing partnerships – Visit Kent partnership; twinning 
links

11. Tourism Sector Skills

11.1 Skills improvement is a key issue throughout the tourism sector and for any 
business that is providing a service to a visitor. There are excellent examples of 
the impact of good training and a range of initiatives and programmes, especially 
around transferable skills in customer care, hospitality and business development.  

11.2 Developing the skills of volunteers and tour guides is a priority, with an aim of 
attracting younger generations to develop skills and experience in this area.

11.3 Key Priorities

11.3.1 Work with partners to promote customer care and hospitality skills.

Page 57



12 | P a g e

11.3.2 Volunteer skills and work experience opportunities for younger people.

12. Safeguarding Gravesham’s Heritage

12.1 There are various important archive and artefacts in various hands within the 
Borough – the Council, Gravesend Library (KCC), Gravesend Historical Society, 
Northfleet Historical Society and in private hands.  Work needs to be undertaken 
to understand what is available and where and to fill some gaps in the archiving of 
material and identification of the most significant. 

12.2 Key to this is understanding how these relate to the telling of Gravesham’s 
story/stories and there is enthusiasm and expertise within the local community to 
do so.  The council is not best placed to host, due to the availability of resources, 
time and the required expertise, but can influence and help to co-ordinate this 
work and needs to secure independent advice as to what steps to take and how 
best to interpret these stories in the 21st Century with the digital communications 
and other technology available today, especially in engaging younger generations 
and new audiences.

12.3 The council is committed to the maintenance, repair and interpretation of those 
heritage properties within its care, subject to a programme of capital works, 
funded where possible with the help of external heritage funding.  These include 
the listed buildings, parks and gardens at New Tavern Fort/Milton Chantry, 
Gravesend Blockhouse, St Andrew’s Church, Gravesend Cold War Bunker and 
Gravesend Cemetery.  The Council will support where possible the contribution 
that can be made by other heritage assets in the Borough to telling of 
Gravesham’s story.

12.4 Gravesham has an online ‘archive’ through its Discover Gravesham – archiving of 
information and artefacts.

12.5 The following priority actions are as follows:

12.5.1 Building blocks within a plan to make more of Gravesham’s archive and 
artefacts, etc. Secure some resource to undertake that work, leading to 
advice on how best to secure their future and to interpret them.

12.5.2 Reshape Discover Gravesham

12.5.3 Progress repairs and interpretation of Gravesham’s heritage assets, 
including a review and updating of our audio tours.

13. Resources

13.1 Gravesham is a partner in two Interreg European projects, both of which have a 
strong focus on the visitor economy:

13.1.1 The ‘Experience’ Interreg Project - the project is looking at increasing 
visitors footfall during the off peak seasons.

13.1.2 The European Channel Manche Interreg project “Go Trade” - to revitalise 
Gravesend Borough Market and make it a destination.

Page 58



13 | P a g e

14. Overall Objectives 

14.1 The following objectives have been identified:

14.1.1 Encourage more day visits and longer stays

14.1.2 Increase the stock, quality and breadth of visitor accommodation

14.1.3 Strengthen Gravesham’s visitor offer through supporting the opening of 
existing and new visitor attractions and developing ‘experiential’ tourism. 

14.1.4 Enable the programme of festivals and cultural activity to appeal to visitors 
from beyond the Borough

14.1.5 To extend the effectiveness of Gravesham’s visitor information and 
promotion

14.1.6 Strengthen local partnership working between tourism and hospitality 
businesses and organisations

14.1.7 Develop skills and work experience opportunities within the local tourism 
and hospitality sector  

14.1.8 Value and co-ordinate the expertise, archiving and interpretation of 
Gravesham’s heritage towards a telling of Gravesham’s story. 

14.2 A summary of the strategy’s objectives is included as Appendix 3.

14.3 The Tourism and Heritage strategy needs to complement the council’s Arts and 
Cultural Strategy and is consistent with the Council’s Corporate Plan ambitions.

15. Action Plan & Resources

15.1 An action plan incorporating the objectives to be provided.  Progress will be 
monitored through the council’s performance key indicators.

15.2 On the whole this action plan can be achieved through the council’s current levels 
of budgetary provision. This will be reviewed on an annual basis and therefore 
may change. Some of the key areas that will require additional funding, could be 
partially funded, possibly though partnership working.

16. Consultation

16.1 Subject to approval by of the strategy by the Cabinet Member for Community & 
Leisure, it is the intention that this draft strategy is made available for consultation. 
It will be sent to local partners and other interested agencies.

16.2 This is an opportunity to promote what Gravesham is doing to attract and 
welcome visitors, but the underlying issue is what actions in the medium term will 
have the greatest economic impact and provide a legacy for further growth in this 
sector. 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



TOURISM  
AND HERITAGE

STRATEGY
2020-2023

Grow the stock, quality and variety of  
visitor accommodation

Increase day visits and longer stays

Strengthen Gravesham’s visitor offer 
 Extend openings of existing local tourism and heritage      
 sites; new visitor attractions and experiential tourism
  

Extend the effectiveness of  
Gravesham’s visitor information  
and promotion.

Strengthen local partnership working, skills and 
work opportunities within the tourism and  
hospitality sector.

Value and coordinate the expertise, archiving    
and interpretation of Gravesham’s heritage 
and telling its story.

A programme of festivals, arts and  
cultural activities to appeal to visitors  
from further afield.

GRAVESHAM
Expanding the 
visitor economy 
- A place to visit, stay and enjoy
- Promote the destination
- Telling our story

Our Tourism and Heritage Strategy  
is linked to our Corporate objectives 
below:

OBJECTIVE

1
OBJECTIVE

2
OBJECTIVE

3
OBJECTIVE

4
OBJECTIVE

5
OBJECTIVE

6
OBJECTIVE

7

#2

#1
#3

PROTECTED 
ENVIRONMENT

QUALITY 
LIVING

PEOPLE
VIBRANT 

ECONOMY
CONNECTED 
COMMUNIT Y

 PL ACE

ENTREPRENEURIAL 
AUTHORIT Y

STRONG 
LEADERSHIP

PROGRESS

PL AN
CORPORATE

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification: Public 
Key Decision:  No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 15 September 2020

Reporting officer: Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit)

Subject: Draft Modern Slavery Strategy 2020-23

Purpose and summary of the report:
This report provides the Committee with a draft Strategy that aims to increase our understanding of 
modern slavery in our area and that offers an approach that will enable the Council to fulfil its 
statutory obligations as a First Responder organisation.  The Strategy supports the Council’s wider 
Safeguarding agenda and will ensure that we have procedures in place that are robust and will 
withstand scrutiny.

Recommendations:

The Committee is asked to:

i) Consider and comment on the content of the draft Strategy prior to its finalisation, 
subject to amendments requested by and the formal approval of the Cabinet Member 
for Community and Leisure.  

1. Introduction

1.1 The Modern Slavery Act 2015 introduced a range of measures to improve the level of 
protection offered to victims of slavery and to ensure that local agencies have the powers 
they need to pursue, disrupt and bring to justice those engaged in modern slavery, human 
trafficking, servitude and forced or compulsory labour.
  

1.2 s.52 of the Act created a new ‘duty to notify’ for Local Authorities i.e. a duty to report a 
potential victim of slavery or trafficking to the Home Office through the National Referral 
Mechanism (NRM), the current process in the UK for victim identification and support.  This 
process also identifies Councils as First Responders (together with other public bodies 
including Police, UK Border Force, the Gangmasters Labour Abuse Authority and several 
NGOs including the Salvation Army).  Therefore, as a First Responder, our Council has a 
duty to notify the Home Office if anyone working within the Council (including Members) 
identifies a person with indicators suggesting that they may have been trafficked or are 
enslaved. The draft Strategy provides full details of our legal responsibilities both in respect 
of the duty to notify and the support that then needs to be provided to the potential victim.  

1.3 The Strategy outlines specific measures that will ensure that good practice is being adopted 
and developed to improve our capacity as a First Responder organisation to react promptly 
and with clarity when cases come to light.  It is intended as a fully-coordinated approach 
that is built upon the 4 Ps framework stipulated in the Government’s Modern Slavery 
Strategy: Pursue, Prevent, Protect and Prepare.  A number of strategic priorities and 
objectives that address each of the 4 Ps are contained within the Strategy.

Page 63 Agenda Item 9



2

2. The need for a new approach  

2.1 Since the coming into force of the Modern Slavery Act 2015, the Council has been 
proactive in taking on board its responsibilities.  Several cycles of training have been 
organised by the Community Safety Unit and successfully delivered by the charity, Stop 
The Traffik, to frontline Council staff and representatives of partner agencies.  The Council 
has also produced and published, on an annual basis, a Modern Slavery Statement 
explaining the steps the Council takes to avoid the presence of modern slavery in any of its 
supply chains.  Modern slavery and trafficking feature within the Council’s internal 
Safeguarding Policy and the issue has consistently been retained as a priority within the 
Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s Community Safety Strategy.  

2.2 However, modern slavery remains (both nationally and locally) a largely hidden crime and 
the full extent of it is unknown, a matter largely exacerbated by the reluctance of victims, for 
a host a reasons provided in the proposed Strategy, to report their experiences.  There also 
remains a lack of appreciation amongst the general public that this type of criminality is not 
a thing of the past but is in fact a form of organised crime that is extremely lucrative for 
perpetrators and that continues to grow.  In order to encourage more victims to come 
forward and for third parties to report, it is imperative that First Responder agencies have 
very clear and effective procedures and support pathways in place if a victim comes to 
attention.  In the absence of these, a victim will lack confidence in our ability to help them.  
They will frequently go underground and consequently, continue to suffer their abuse.  

2.3 Historically, when Council officers have encountered a potential victim, this has usually 
been reported to Kent Police who have then investigated and supported the victim.  The 
proposed Strategy adopts the stance that, if we are the first agency to come across the 
victim, it is our responsibility to follow the NRM process as a First Responder.  This 
Strategy will ensure that we have the necessary procedures in place to enable us to do this 
efficiently but also to meet the Government’s wider expectations of good practice in respect 
of raising awareness of modern slavery more generally, working collaboratively with partner 
agencies across sectors to provide victim support and to share intelligence with the aim of 
identifying perpetrators, disrupting their activity and bringing them to justice. 

2.4 The Community Safety Unit and Housing Services recently reviewed our existing practices 
and determined that we wanted extend and build upon work carried out to date to meet our 
First Responder responsibilities.  It was agreed that it would be timely to take stock of what 
has worked well and to identify gaps in order to improve our response further.  The 
proposed Strategy provides the Council with a comprehensive approach and a series of 
initiatives to be completed by the end of March 2023 that will demonstrate that we have 
taken the best of good practice and replicated it locally and fully adopted Government 
guidance.

2.5 The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) and the Assistant Director (Housing 
Services) have consulted with colleagues from the Kent Police Serious Crime Directorate 
and Porchlight (Homelessness charity) and the proposed Strategy has been produced with 
their assistance and support.  Subject to the approval of the Cabinet Member for 
Community and Leisure, it is hoped that the Strategy can be launched in October to 
coincide with National Anti-Slavery Day 2020.  This may attract some publicity which whilst 
clearly positive in showing the Council to be acting proactively, will also provide an 
opportunity to raise awareness of modern slavery amongst the general public and help to 
generate a dialogue and discussion about the issue.

2.6 The Strategy itself provides details in respect of governance, accountability and how the 
Strategy would be delivered at an operational level.

Page 64



3

3. Implementation

3.1 The successful implementation of the Strategy will require the support of a multi-agency 
Working Group.  The Community Safety Unit (Strategic Manager) has already been in 
consultation with a core group of key partners who have expressed their willingness to be 
involved in this new project.  The Unit will take responsibility for coordinating and 
administering the quarterly meetings of the Working Group and the project will be led by the 
Strategic Manager and the CSU’s Lead Safeguarding Officer on behalf of the Council.

3.2 A detailed Action Plan based on the priorities and objectives contained within the Strategy 
will be developed that will structure the activity of the Working Group and ensure that focus 
is retained.  This will be a live working document (not for public dissemination) that will also 
enable progress to be regularly monitored and allow performance to be fed back to both the 
Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee and the Community Safety Partnership. 

3.3 Much of the activity will not require additional financial resourcing and it is anticipated that 
funds available through the internal Community Safety Unit working budget will be able to 
accommodate any expenditure.  Should it transpire that further funding is required than 
currently anticipated, the Community Safety Unit may request to use some of its Crime 
Reduction Grant available via the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office to support this 
initiative.  Modern slavery and human trafficking have been flagged as issues of particular 
concern during the period of Covid-19 and lockdown; it is possible that Central Government 
may make funding available to support activity to address the issue in the not too distant 
future.  In this event, having a Strategy in place and a multi-agency Working Group already 
established (including charitable organisations as well as statutory agencies) will place us in 
a good position to be able to bid for funding to support our work.

Page 65



4

APPENDIX 1
IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             
Legal The Council has a statutory obligation to work with partner agencies to address 

crime and ASB and SOC (Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and Serious Organised 
Crime Act 2015).  It has specific duties as a First Responder agency and as 
contained within s.52 Modern Slavery Act 2015.

Finance and 
Value for Money

Delivery of the Strategy has a resource implication in terms of officer time in 
pulling together the proposed Action Plan that will support the Strategy and 
coordination of activity.  This will be met through the current capacity within the 
CSU (Strategic Manager, Operational Manager, Lead Safeguarding Officer and 
Administrator) as part of daily CSU business.  Some funding to support aspects of 
the project will be capable of being met through the CSU’s annual working budget 
(and potentially through external funding subject to successful bids to the PCC 
(Crime Reduction Grant) and Central Government funding opportunities.

Risk assessment Failure to have in place clearly understood procedures to effectively support a 
victim of modern slavery coming to our attention would carry the risk of also failing 
to meet our statutory responsibilities, place the victim at risk of further harm and 
potentially damage the reputation of the Council.
A data protection impact assessment (OPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve 
the processing of personal data or special category data or criminal 
offence data? Potentially but only in respect of individual cases at an 
operational level; no, in respect of the Strategy.

b. If yes to question a., have you completed and attached a DPIA including 
Data Protection Officer advice? N/a

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b., please seek advice from your nominated DPIA 
assessor or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups 
in the community?  No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make 
a positive contribution to promoting equality? Yes – it will increase our 
ability to protect often the most vulnerable of people from harm and ensure 
that they have equal access to support and assistance.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate 
Business Plan

The Strategy makes a direct contribution to improving public safety linked to 
People and Place in the Corporate Plan.

Crime and 
Disorder

The proposed Strategy will form part of the Council’s programme of work to 
improve community safety and protecting vulnerable people from harm.

Climate Change None.
Digital/website 
website 
implications

None at this stage.  Once launched the Strategy should be published on the 
Council’s website.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The safeguarding of vulnerable young people and adults is a high priority for the 
Council and partner agencies; the proposed Strategy will contribute to the 
Authority’s Safeguarding policy and could potentially be seen as a good practice 
model county-wide.

Page 66



 

UNHIDDEN
Addressing Modern 
Slavery in
Gravesham

Strategy 
2020-2023

September 2020

Page 67



2 | P a g e

Contents

Page

Foreword 3

Context – the Extent of the Problem 4

Legislation and the Duty Of Local Authorities 6

Our Approach and Priorities 7

What do we mean by Modern Slavery? 10

Modern Slavery Indicators 14

The National Referral Mechanism 17

Implementing the Strategy 22

For further information and enquiries about this Strategy, please contact:

Gravesham Community Safety Unit
Email: community.safetyunit@gravesham.gov.uk
Tel.: 01474 337328

Page 68

mailto:community.safetyunit@gravesham.gov.uk


3 | P a g e

Foreword to the Understanding and 
Addressing Modern Slavery Strategy

I am pleased to present this Strategy on behalf of 
Gravesham Borough Council as our approach to tackling 
modern slavery and human trafficking.  The Modern Slavery 
Act 2015 sets out the Council’s duties as a First Responder 
to notify the Secretary of State about suspected victims of 
slavery or human trafficking and this Strategy demonstrates 
the Council’s real commitment to work with our partner 
agencies to provide the best support possible to victims and 
potential victims who come to our attention.  We recognise 
that, sadly, slavery, trafficking and exploitation are not 
issues of the past but very present in areas across the 
country including our own Borough.

The scale of this largely hidden crime is significant and that is why we need an approach that raises 
the awareness of it across the board.  By working closely with our partners, we can continue to 
develop a programme of comprehensive and targeted action to encourage potential victims to 
report their experiences and get the help they need whilst also sending a clear message to 
offenders that these crimes will not be tolerated in Gravesham.  The Council will have no 
hesitation in using its powers and encouraging its partners to use theirs to do this.  We all have a 
part to play: local residents, communities, those working here and those agencies with statutory 
responsibilities, but in order that we can all respond effectively, we also all need to have an 
improved understanding of what we mean when we talk about modern slavery and the steps that 
we should take if we encounter it.  

That is why this Strategy is broad; it includes not only measures for improving training of all 
Council staff to recognise signs and be clear on what to do but also actions to improve information 
sharing between different agencies to help build a better intelligence picture of the extent of the 
problem so that action can be taken.  It also considers actions to improve public awareness more 
generally and work to help us engage with local communities so that modern slavery and 
trafficking are issues that are openly discussed.  This will help increase the confidence of victims to 
feel they can approach the Police or other support services.  We know that many victims go 
unidentified and unprotected and that is something we want to change.  

Gravesham Borough Council as well as Gravesham as a community, has a responsibility to ensure 
that its children, young people and adults are offered the best protection possible from 
exploitation of this kind which has devastating long-term effects on its victims, their families and 
the wider community.  My hope is that this Strategy and the Action Plan that underpins it to 
ensure its delivery, will provide consistency and co-ordination and bring partners together to 
effectively support those in need and see more offenders being brought to justice.

Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, 
Cabinet Member for Community and Leisure

Page 69



4 | P a g e

Context – the Extent of the Problem

The National Crime Agency Strategic Assessment of Serious and Organised Crime 2020 emphasises 
that the true scale of modern slavery and human trafficking in the UK is unknown.  The complexity 
of this crime type and the vulnerability and circumstances of those exploited mean that victims are 
frequently reluctant to report their experience, particularly to the Police.  Some victims may not 
always identify themselves as having been exploited whilst others will often do whatever they can 
to actually deflect intervention by either the Police or other authorities for a range of reasons 
discussed later in this document.  These factors mean that that any recorded figures will be heavily 
affected by under-reporting.

Potential victims identified in the UK through the National Referral Mechanism (NRM) increased 
by 45% between January to September 2019 to 7,273 victims, compared to the same period in 
2018.  Growing awareness of modern slavery and trafficking amongst First Responder agencies 
and the general public may have contributed to this increase which only serves to confirm the 
importance of continuing to keep this issue high on national as well as the local agenda.

potential victims were referred to 
the NRM in the first three 
quarters of 2019, an increase of 
45% on the same period in 2018.

of those referred to the NRM in 
the first three quarters of 2019 
were exploited as children (under 
18 years of age).

of UK Police investigations into 
modern slavery in the first three 
quarters of 2019 featured female 
suspects, up from 28% for the 
same period in 2018.

Drivers and key forms of exploitation
Whilst the following information relates to the UK position, the expectation is that this will be 
largely replicated locally in Gravesham:

 Offenders engaged in modern slavery tend to operate in organised groups or networks. 
Whilst the majority of identified offenders are male, the proportion of police investigations 
featuring female offenders has increased, with them mostly linked to sexual exploitation;

 The primary driver for offenders is profit – unlike the profit to be made from e.g. the sale 
of stolen goods where the financial benefit is seen only once, a person exploited into in 
sexual or labour will keep delivering financial profit over and over again for as long as the 
demand exists;

 Key issues such as homelessness, isolation and substance misuse often contribute to a 
victim’s vulnerability.  Outside the UK, a lack of economic or educational opportunity drives 
the movement of vulnerable people and non-UK victims of modern slavery face a high risk 
of exploitation once they have arrived in this country;

 The number of claims of exploitation involving victims coerced into crime has continued to 
increase (now overtaking labour and sexual exploitation), with exploitation in county lines 
drug supply being most common and children/young people being the majority of victims;

Page 70



5 | P a g e

 Sexual exploitation accounts for the highest number of female victims in the UK with 
simultaneous exploitation in other ways being common e.g. domestic servitude.  This kind 
of exploitation is most certainly particularly underreported by male victims;

 Labour exploitation is notably reported from construction, agricultural and car wash 
services with the majority of victims being male.

Nationalities of potential victims and suspected offenders of modern slavery and human 
trafficking impacting the UK (top 10 countries)

Our experience in Kent
Trends in Kent mirror the national experience above and it is very likely that Gravesham will share 
the same modern slavery and human trafficking issues, trends and intelligence gaps.  Figures are 
not available at District level but are provided at Kent Police Divisional level.  Gravesham falls 
within North Division together with Dartford, Swale and Medway).  Headline details include:

 77 modern slavery and human trafficking investigations were carried out in North Division 
in the 12 months ending July 2020;

 199 NRM and MS1 (Modern Slavery notifications) were referred in the 12 months ending 
July 2020;

 11 NRM referrals were made by Local Authorities in April-June 2020 (none submitted by 
Gravesham);

 The most prevalent forms of exploitation in North Division (in order) are forced criminality, 
labour and sexual exploitation.  However, when forced criminality linked to county lines is 
removed from these statistics (as there are separate and dedicated Teams tackling this 
issue), labour and sexual exploitation are the predominant types of exploitation;

 In North Division, the top 5 nationalities of victims (in order) are: British, Albanian, 
Romanian, Polish and Vietnamese.

Page 71



6 | P a g e

Legislation and the Duty of Local Authorities

The Modern Slavery Act 2015 s.1-4 created several main modern slavery offences:

a) Slavery, servitude and forced or compulsory labour (s.1) – where are person holds another 
person in slavery or servitude or requires them to perform forced or compulsory labour and 
the person knows or ought to know that the other is being so held or required to perform;

b) Human trafficking (s.2-3) – an offence is committed where a person arranges or facilitates the 
travel of another person with a view to that person being exploited.  ‘Exploitation’ includes: 
slavery, servitude, forced or compulsory labour, sexual exploitation, organ removal, securing 
services by force, threats or deception and securing services from children or vulnerable 
people;

c) Facilitating human trafficking (s.4) – where an offence is committed with the intention of 
facilitating human trafficking e.g. providing false documents.

The Specific Duty of Local Authorities
s.52 of the Act created a statutory duty to notify for specified public authorities, including local 
authorities.  This duty identifies local authorities as First Responders and requires that if any 
Council employee encounters an individual who they believe is a possible victim of modern slavery 
or human trafficking, the Local Authority must notify the Home Office through the National 
Referral Mechanism (NRM).

By implication, all local authorities need to provide frontline staff and their supervisors with 
training and awareness-raising on modern slavery to ensure that they can fulfil these obligations.  
Council employees need to be fully aware of the signs and indicators that help to identify a 
potential victim and clear and confident in the steps to follow to ensure our duty is met and the 
potential victim properly supported.

The statutory duty to notify should not be seen as an additional burden – identifying a case as 
potentially one of modern slavery is primarily beneficial because it hopefully leads to direct 
support for the potential victim but could also uncover details to close intelligence gaps hugely 
beneficial to law enforcement and partner agencies.  The NRM and provisions within the Modern 
Slavery Act 2015 include:

 The creation of a new statutory defence for slavery or trafficking victims who were or are 
compelled to commit criminal offences on behalf of their exploiter.

 The introduction of civil orders to enable the courts to place restrictions on those convicted of 
modern slavery offences or those involved in such offences but not yet convicted.

 The provision of short-term Government-funded support (accommodation, material 
assistance, medical treatment, counselling etc.) for a minimum of 45 days if the victim is an 
adult and agrees to go through the NRM process.

 The potential provision of legal aid to victims of human trafficking and slavery for a variety of 
claims.

 The provision of mechanisms for seizing traffickers’ assets and channelling some of that 
money towards victims for compensation payments.

 The provision of child trafficking advocates for all child victims of trafficking.

Page 72



7 | P a g e

Our Approach and Priorities

This Strategy sets out Gravesham Borough Council’s approach to tackling modern slavery and 
human trafficking.  Whilst the Council has taken some steps to develop work in this area following 
the coming into force of the Modern Slavery Act 2015, it is now determined to develop our 
knowledge and understanding of this issue further.  This aim is to be proactive in helping to 
identify and refer victims for assistance; to safeguard children and adults by helping to address 
their support needs; to work with partners to disrupt perpetrators and bring them to justice; and, 
to ensure that any supply chains linked to Council services are free from modern slavery.

Councils are crucial to partnership working in trying to prevent and reduce modern slavery, not 
least because so many of the services delivered by local authorities bring Council officers into 
areas and situations where they may encounter it simply whilst carrying out their normal duties.  
Through a long history of working in collaboration with a wide range of agencies from statutory, 
voluntary and charitable sectors, we are aware that by sharing intelligence, expertise and 
resources, we will be much better placed to respond effectively when cases of modern slavery 
come to light.  

This Strategy and its underpinning Action Plan builds on the 4 Ps framework stipulated in the 
Government’s Modern Slavery Strategy 2014:

Pursue Prosecuting and disrupting individuals and groups responsible for 
modern slavery.

Prevent Preventing people from engaging in modern slavery, either as victims or 
offenders.

Protect Strengthening safeguards against modern slavery by protecting 
vulnerable people from exploitation and increasing awareness of and 
resilience against this crime.

Prepare Reducing the harm caused by modern slavery though improved victim 
identification and enhanced support.

Our vision is to protect our communities from modern slavery and trafficking by focussing on 6 
key priority outcomes:

Priority 1
To raise awareness and understanding of modern slavery and its effects across Council 
departments and within our local communities
Priority 2
To increase reporting of modern slavery by service providers and the general public
Priority 3
To ensure Council staff and Members have the right knowledge, skills and processes to act 
confidently
Priority 4
To identify, support, protect and empower victims of modern slavery
Priority 5
To assist in the identification, disruption and bringing to justice of offenders
Priority 6
To have effective governance, processes and clear lines of responsibility

Page 73



8 | P a g e

Strategic Objectives

A series of strategic objectives have been identified linked to each of the priority outcomes 
described earlier.  These also form the basis of an Action Plan that will guide and structure the 
delivery of this Strategy.

Priority 1
We will raise awareness and understanding of modern slavery and its effects by:

 The pooling of intelligence to help inform the Working Group of the issues most relevant in 
our area.  This will enable the Group to target particular geographical areas, potential 
victim groups and specific operating models used by offenders;

 Undertaking and promoting appropriate, targeted and intelligence led multi-agency 
campaigns;

 Developing a package of communications and delivering a consistent message across all 
Council departments, other sectors and for public dissemination;

 Promoting the existence of the Working Group and its activities to encourage confidence in 
victims of the commitment of local agencies to work together in addressing modern 
slavery. 

Priority 2
We will increase reporting of suspected modern slavery by:

 Making sure that local people are encouraged to report concerns by promoting national as 
well as local services and reporting lines;

 Ensuring that all Council staff know how to report concerns and are able to advise 
members of the public accordingly;

 Using targeted campaigns to engage with local people across difference backgrounds to 
overcome any cultural barriers that may prevent the reporting of modern slavery e.g. by 
working with appropriate community groups, faith providers, charitable organisations, that 
have contact with individuals who may be more vulnerable to modern slavery and who do 
not necessarily engage with statutory agencies;

 Improving awareness of and publicising the support and protection that is available to 
victims to increase confidence to report.

Priority 3
We will ensure that Council staff and Members have the right knowledge, skills and processes to 
act confidently by:

 Developing training and resources for Council staff (that can be shared with partner 
agencies) to ensure that everyone understands their legal duties and follows correct 
procedures for protecting victims;

 Rolling out training using face-to-face and online formats, utilising best practice;
 Introducing a modern slavery input as part of mandatory training for all new Council staff 

as part of their induction programme;
 Ensuring that Council members are offered training and are aware of services to be able to 

advise any constituents who may raise modern slavery concerns with them;

Page 74



9 | P a g e

 Ensuring that businesses and agencies working with the Council understand their legal 
responsibilities to prevent modern slavery occurring in any supply chains.

Priority 4
We will identify, support, protect and empower victims by:

 Testing and adopting referral pathways that best meet victims’ needs (including 
considering how we can most effectively provide immediate support at crisis point and 
longer-term protection, both within and outside of the National Referral Mechanism);

 Ensuring that there is collaboration and ‘joined-up’ working between different services 
supporting victims (particularly between Council departments);

 Exploring the potential for working with survivors who may be willing to provide peer 
support e.g. through the establishing of a locally-based peer support group.

Priority 5
We will assist in the identification, disruption and bringing to justice of offenders by:

 Supporting multi-agency operations with partners;
 Ensuring that intelligence/information received by the Council is shared promptly with 

appropriate partners;
 Via the Working Group, identify and develop tactics to disrupt the activity of offenders;
 Identify and apply best practice to increase the number of offenders being charged and 

convicted for modern slavery crimes and to effectively publicise successful prosecutions.

Priority 6
We will have effective governance, processes and lines of responsibility by:

 Establishing a multi-agency Modern Slavery Working Group with clear terms of reference;
 Ensuring progress in the delivery of this Strategy and its’ Action Plan is regularly monitored 

reported to the Gravesham Serious Organised Crime Panel and Community Safety 
Partnership;

 Ensuring that actions taken are evaluated to establish ‘what works’ to continuously 
develop local best practice.

Page 75



10 | P a g e

What do we mean by Modern Slavery?

A prerequisite for improving the way we respond to potential or actual cases of modern slavery is 
having a clear understanding of what we actually mean when we talk about ‘modern slavery’.  

Modern slavery encompasses human trafficking, slavery, servitude and forced or compulsory 
labour.  It is important to recognise some of the different types of coercion and control that may 
be being used (the ‘means’ used by offenders) as well as the specific forms of exploitation (the 
‘purpose’ behind the offender’s behaviour).  The following guidance is taken from the Adult 
Modern Slavery Protocol for Local Authorities produced by the Anti-Slavery London Working 
Group and the Human Trafficking Foundation.

Means – Types of Coercion and Control 

The apparent consent of a victim to be controlled and exploited is irrelevant when one or more of 
the following has been used to obtain that consent.  Note that coercion does not need to include 
violence or the threat of violence.

 The threat or use of force (physical restraint, beating, rape, abuse against them or their family 
members).

 Withholding travel or immigration documentation.

 Ritual oaths or use of fear based on a belief system e.g. use of Juju.
 Fraud – control of the potential victim’s accounts or finances, attaching their name to debts, 

cars, illegal activity.

 Abduction.

 Blackmail or intimidation.
 The abuse of power or a position of vulnerability (whether physical, psychological, emotional, 

family-related, social or economic e.g. illegality of the potential victim’s immigration status, 
the person affected believing they have little or no alternative but to submit to the abuse).

 Debt bondage and depriving the individual of money – creating artificially high debts for travel 
or substandard accommodation or making significant deductions from an individual’s ‘salary’.

 Deception e.g. employer provided false information about employment, working conditions.
 ‘Stockholm Syndrome’ – due to unequal power, the victim has developed a false emotional or 

psychological attachment to their controller or may identify with the perpetrator as a survival 
or coping mechanism.

 Grooming – where vulnerable people are enticed over time to take part in activity in which 
they may not be entirely willing participants.

 Physical confinement or restriction of movement or confinement through threats/control e.g. 
the individual is unable to leave as they have no money or fear the consequences.

 Threat or perceived threat to the potential victim’s relationships with other family members 
or peer groups.

 Social stigma e.g. using the threat of ‘shaming’ someone who has been operating as a sex 
worker or for having failed to find suitable work or in having control over their life.

Page 76



11 | P a g e

Purpose – Types of Exploitation

The information provided below includes details of the different types of exploitation often 
experienced by victims.  However, due to the changing nature of this criminal activity, this is not 
an exhaustive list and it should also be remembered that a potential victim is likely to experience 
multiple types of exploitation.

Sexual Exploitation
Many potential victims have been forced, coerced or deceived into work, whilst 
others have come willingly to work in this field but been deceived about the nature 
or conditions of work on their arrival.  Possibly with little or no pay, they will often 
be deprived of their freedom of movement and be kept subjugated through the 
use of physical and or/psychological coercion such as bullying, threats to them or 
their family members, debt bondage and violence.

Labour Exploitation and Bonded Labour
Labour is the provision of any service, not just manual labour and it becomes 
exploitation where that work or service is extracted from a person under the 
menace of any penalty and for which the person has not offered themselves 
voluntarily.  The ‘menace or penalty’ could be the confiscation of passports, non-
payment of wages, or placing a person in a situation of dependency or by 
threatening them with the risk of homelessness.

In most cases, potential victims are coerced to carry out work in for e.g. farms, 
factories, restaurants, nail bars, car washes or construction sites, for little or no 
pay.  If they are Foreign Nationals, their passports are frequently confiscated by 
their traffickers and they may be made to live in terrible conditions.

If they have a contract, they are unlikely to have a copy or to have had an 
opportunity to read or understand anything that they have signed or know how to 
enforce any agreed conditions of work that fail to materialise.

Often a debt or perceived debt is used to keep the person in subjugation and there 
can be excessive wage deductions e.g. for the cost of accommodation or food or 
the bonded debt can include costs such as foreign travel to the UK.  Control can 
take less obvious forms and include threats to hurt family members or to report 
victims to the Police or Immigration if their employment status is illegal or 
unknown.  Potential victims may also have been trafficked specifically to be made 
to work in the sex industry and the taboo/stigma associated with this is used as a 
further form of control to prevent the potential victim from seeking help.

Domestic Servitude
Domestic servitude involves people working in a household where they are ill-
treated, humiliated, subjected to exhausting working hours, denied privacy and 
forced to live and work in very poor conditions, for little or no pay.  In some cases, 
sexual abuse may also take place.  

It is often difficult for domestic slaves or servants to leave their employers and 

Page 77



12 | P a g e

seek help and if they do, they are often accused of theft, immigration offences or 
sometimes relatively minor crimes.  Abusive employers create physical and 
psychological obstacles by e.g. threatening the victim or their families with further 
abuse or deportation or by withholding their passport.  Wages are frequently 
withheld on the basis that they will be paid in future with the aim of keeping the 
person working in the hope that this will eventually happen.

Emotional blackmail is a common feature e.g. claiming that the victim is ‘one of 
the family’ or that children in the family have become dependent on them and 
they will suffer should the victim leave.
Criminal Exploitation
This occurs when a person is coerced to become involved in criminal activities such 
as selling and moving drugs, cannabis farming, forced begging, pickpocketing, 
shoplifting etc.  Victims of slavery can (and consequently fear that they will) end up 
in the criminal justice system to be treated as criminals instead of protected as 
victims of serious crime.  In cases where the exploitation activity in itself is illegal, 
the risk of this is high.
Forced Fraud
Traffickers will dishonestly apply for tax credits and other benefits using the 
potential victim’s details, sometimes without their knowledge.  Potential victims’ 
identities may also be used to take out financial loans to cause the potential victim 
to fall into debt and their exploiter then uses this as another form of control.  

In many of these cases the victims are deceived rather than coerced; the trafficker 
may claim to be helping them to fill out benefit claim forms or to obtain loans but 
in reality they have no intention that the victims will have access to those funds. 
 
Forced Marriage, ‘Sham’ Marriage and Surrogate Mothers
Forced Marriage – where one or both people do not (or in the case of people with 
learning disabilities, are unable to) consent to the marriage and pressure or abuse 
is applied.  This can be coupled with other forms of slavery and can be used to 
exploit individuals in various ways.  Children or adults who are trafficked for sex 
may subsequently also be sold into forced marriages.  An adult who is forcibly 
married may later be trafficked for labour or sex by and for the financial gain of his 
or her spouse.

Surrogate Mothers – Women may be forced to act as surrogates and to give birth 
to children who are then taken away from them (and treated as a commodity).

Sham Marriages – There are also cases where marriages to British citizens may 
occur to procure regular immigration status.  There is usually no subsisting 
relationship, dependency or intent to live as husband and wife or as civil partners.  
The potential victim may be approached because they are in a position of 
vulnerability – possibly already trafficked for other services and/or in debt 
bondage.  They may be unaware that this form of marriage is a criminal offence 
and are unlikely to self-identify as a victim of exploitation or trafficking.  Generally 
the sham marriage is uncovered as a result of other offences e.g. domestic 
violence, being investigated.

Page 78



13 | P a g e

Organ harvesting
This involves trafficking people for the purpose of obtaining their organs, tissue 
and cells.  Traffickers might force or deceive the victims into giving up an organ or 
victims may formally or informally agree to sell an organ but are then not paid at 
all or paid less than the price agreed.  Sometimes vulnerable people are treated for 
an ailment which may or may not actually exist and organs are removed without 
the victim’s knowledge or removal occurs as part of illegal rituals.

 
Important Points of Note:

 Consent is irrelevant to exploitation – an individual’s consent to the conduct alleged to 
amount to slavery, servitude or forced compulsory labour is irrelevant where any of the 
‘means’ set out above have been used;

 Exploitation need not have taken place yet to constitute slavery or human trafficking – 
Home Office guidance states that a person is a victim even where they haven’t been 
exploited yet e.g. a police raid occurs before the exploitation happens.  It is the ‘purpose’ 
which is key, rather than whether the exploitation has actually occurred;

 The crime of slavery or trafficking overrides any irregular immigration or other minor 
offences – the person exploiting an individual should be the focus of primary law 
enforcement and victims should not be treated as perpetrators of crime or irregular 
migrants.  There should be a presumption of non-criminalisation for offences arising in 
connection with a victim’s experience of trafficking;

 Victims of slavery and trafficking often do not fit a stereotype – potential victims come 
from all kinds of backgrounds; some are well-educated and from wealthy families and boys 
and men can be victims just as easily as girls and women.  Traffickers also may not always 
fit an expected profile; they too, may be educated and seem outwardly very respectable.

 People rarely self-identify as victims of slavery or trafficking or easily reveal their 
experiences – victims may also be unwilling to disclose their experiences to statutory 
authorities for fear of reprisals, a fear of government/authorities, shame associated with 
their treatment or because they have normalised their exploitation.

 Not all migrants working illegally are trafficked – a report that there are e.g. foreign 
workers working in car wash, does not by itself amount to evidence of human trafficking or 
warrant a human trafficking response.  However, it is the case that some traffickers ensure 
that the people they are exploiting have legitimate Visas or are entitled to work, so it does 
not always mean the exploitation is not happening.

 Smuggling is not trafficking – in smuggling cases, asylum seekers and immigrants pay 
people to help them enter the country irregularly.  This is a crime against the state not 
against an individual.  Smugglers generally provide a short-term/one-off service rather than 
treating the person as a commodity for the longer-term.  However, there are occasions 
when people believe that they are being smuggled but on arrival in the country are then 
subjected to exploitation e.g. they may be forced to work to pay off the smuggling debt 
which is then increased over time by the smuggler to retain control over the victim. 

Page 79



14 | P a g e

Modern Slavery Indicators

Indicators will point to concerns that should always lead to further investigation and 
consideration of an NRM referral.  They may not necessarily be considered as evidence of 
trafficking or slavery but should lead to further work to gather more intelligence which may 
then reveal that a person is at risk of exploitation unless steps are taken to prevent it.

Important points to remember:

 We are not required to prove human trafficking.  If trafficking is suspected but not 
conclusively proven, the individual should still be identified as a potential victim.  This 
threshold is deliberately low to encourage referrals where there are any concerns;

 We do not need to evaluate indicators to a criminal standard of proof.

Indicators

Conversation
 Fearful, anxious and withdrawn
 Unable to speak the local language
 Refuses or is reluctant to talk to a person in authority or provide personal 

details
 Does not recognise themselves as having been trafficked or enslaved
 Tells their stories with obvious errors
 Have a prepared story, very similar to those that other adults have given
 Is unable or unwilling to give the name and address of their employer

Behaviour/Appearance
 Appears to be missing for periods
 Is known to beg for money
 Having tattoos or other marks indicating ‘ownership’ by their exploiters
 Victims may experience post-traumatic stress disorder which can result in 

any or a combination of the following symptoms: hostility, aggression, 
difficulty in recalling details or entire episodes, difficulty concentrating

Work
 Wearing unsuitable clothing e.g. flip flops in winter, no helmet on a 

construction site
 Is required to earn a minimum amount of money every day
 No or poor health and safety equipment, no health and safety notices and 

unhygienic, unsafe working conditions
 Excessive working hours, no days off and little spare time to e.g. get food
 Actual or perception of debt bondage
 No or limited access to earnings or no labour contract
 Excessive wage reductions or financial penalties
 Movement of individuals between sites or working in alternate locations

Page 80



15 | P a g e

Freedom of Movement
 Is accompanied by a person who insists on remaining with them at all 

times
 Limited freedom of movement
 Limited or no social interaction and poor integration into the community
 Dependence on employer for e.g. for work, accommodation, transport
 Limited contact with family members
 Never leaving the house without permission from an employer
 Only leaving the house in a group

Health
 Shows signs of physical or sexual abuse and/or has contracted STIs or has 

an unwanted pregnancy
 Has not been registered with or attended a GP practice
 Appears to services (Doctor/Council staff) only in the finall months of a 

pregnancy
 Bruises, cigarette burns and untreated injuries
 Broken bones that haven’t healed properly
 Malnourishment
 Learning difficulties or drug and/or alcohol dependencies
 Dental problems and poor hygiene
 Neurological problems, headaches, dizziness, memory loss
 Gastrointestinal systems
 Musculoskeletal symptoms
 Work-related injuries often through poor health and safety measures
 Signs of mental health issues e.g. trauma, PTSD, panic attacks

Accommodation
 Workers have to pay for food or accommodation via deductions from pay
 Home delivery meal packaging in excessive quantities
 Overcrowded/rough sleeping conditions including ‘beds in sheds’
 Cars or minibuses picking up at unusual times
 Not eating with the rest of the family and no private sleeping place or 

sleeping in a shared space
 Frequent visitors to residential premises
 Lack of family photos and personal belongings
 Post stacked up and discarded envelopes on the floor
 A script by a telephone on making benefit claims/dealing with enquiries
 Unable to show any autonomy over accommodation e.g. no tenancy 

documents, bills, bank accounts in their own name
Journey

 May have entered the country irregularly or their visa has expired (note 
that they may be from the UK or be a Foreign National with legal status to 
be in the UK)

 Travel in a group, often with people who do not speak the same language
 May have had their journey/visa arranged by someone on their behalf
 Has had to pay an exorbitant debt e.g. for travel costs, before having any 

control over their own earnings/documents


Page 81



16 | P a g e

Employer
 Employer reports them as a missing person
 Employer accuses person of theft/other crimes to explain their escape
 Employer speaks on their behalf
 Employer unable to produce documents required when employing 

migrant labour
 Difficult to establish or prove relationships between adults and child(ren)
 Single adult is the contact for a large number of children, families or 

workers
Documents

 Has no passport or other means of identification
 Has false travel/identity documentation
 Is unable to confirm names and addresses of employer, contacts, home or 

workplace in the UK
 Does not appear to have money but does have a mobile phone
 Is in possession of money and goods which are not accounted for
 Coerced to apply for asylum or warned not to apply for asylum
 Fear of revealing immigration status or lacks knowledge on current 

immigration status

How might Council staff encounter a potential victim?

Both Council staff across service departments and local Councillors may receive reports and/or 
information about local situations that could ‘flag’ that modern slavery or exploitation is taking 
place.  Whilst not exhaustive, some examples of such situations include:

 Anti-social behaviour

 Breaches of planning regulations

 Multiple occupancy and/or over-crowded buildings

 Payment of minimum wages/pay disputes

 Homelessness

 Sexual offences, grooming, prostitution, forced marriage

 Vulnerability within a domestic setting/domestic abuse cases

 Irregular immigration/immigration offences

 County lines, gangs, drug selling, drug cultivation

 Benefit fraud and sham marriages

 Persistent missing persons

Page 82



17 | P a g e

The National Referral Mechanism (NRM)

The National Referral Mechanism (NRM) is the current process in place in the UK to identify and 
support potential victims of modern slavery.  The NRM is also one of the means through which the 
National Crime Agency (NCA) gathers information about victims to help build a clearer intelligence 
picture.  The Mechanism was introduced to assist with the meeting of obligations created by the 
European Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings.  

Key considerations:-

First Responders
First responders are responsible for identifying and interviewing potential 
victims.  All those working in local authorities (as well as those in a range of 
agencies e.g. Police, UK Border Force, the Salvation Army and the 
Gangmasters and Labour Abuse Authority) are First Responders.  Gravesham 
Borough Council is a First Responder into the NRM process and as such, the 
Council has a duty to notify the Home Office if anyone working within the 
Council identifies a person with indicators that suggest they may be 
enslaved or may have been trafficked.

Consent – Use the NRM
Where an adult victim gives their consent, a referral should be made into the 
NRM.  This consent must be ‘informed’ i.e. for an adult to provide their 
informed consent, the First Responder must have explained to them:

 What the NRM is;
 What support may be available (e.g. accommodation, subsistence, 

legal aid, protection and counselling);
 What the possible outcomes may be and potential implications.

If an adult consents to referral into the NRM, the National Referral 
Mechanism Guidance (Adult) should be followed:
 

LWG+Local+Authorit
ies+Modern+Slavery+Protocol+(adults)+-+NRM+Process+Gui....pdf

In February 2020, a new Digital NRM Referral Form was introduced and is 
available to all First Responders.  This allows the referral to be made through 
a single online form.  The form is designed to be responsive and will change 
depending on the options selected.  The form can be accessed through the 
following link:  https://www.modernslavery.gov.uk/start

The Council must adhere to safeguarding and duty of care processes.  An 
assessment of needs should be carried out in respect of housing, benefits, 
legal advice, requirement of safe housing etc.  The objective is to safeguard 
the potential victim and to prevent or reduce the risk of re-exploitation.

Page 83

https://www.modernslavery.gov.uk/start


18 | P a g e

If the potential victim has no recourse to public funds and there is no duty to 
provide housing/support under other safeguarding/Human Rights legislation, 
contact the Salvation Army directly if the individual has immediate support 
needs: tel. 0300 303 8151 (24 hrs).  They should be able to assist with 
accommodation and/other outreach support.  

Non-Consent – Complete a Duty to Notify Referral
If a victim does not want and does not give their consent to enter the NRM, 
First Responders still have a duty to notify if they have reasonable grounds 
for believing that a person is a potential victim.  

Complete the online Duty to Notify Referral using the same link as for making 
an NRM Referral – it will adapt according to the options selected:
https://www.modernslavery.gov.uk/start

Contact Kent Police through the 101 reporting line/online form or using 999 
if you believe that the individual is facing an immediate threat of risk or 
harm.  Remember: a potential victim of slavery is a potential victim of 
crime and there is still a duty to try to safeguard them.

The Salvation Army are contracted by the Home Office to provide support 
and counselling and they may also be able to offer help or advice on how to 
engage more effectively with someone who is frightened or reluctant to 
disclose information or engage.  Further information can be found at:
https://www.salvationarmy.org.uk/modern-slavery

What happens once an NRM Referral has been made?

Once the NRM Referral has been submitted it will be passed to the relevant ‘Competent 
Authority’, which in the case of local authorities acting as First Responders, is the Modern Slavery 
Human Trafficking Unit (MSHTU).  This Unit sits within the National Crime Agency that is 
accountable to the Home Secretary.  Trained decision makers within the Unit will assess and make 
a decision on whether the individual referred is a victim of modern slavery or trafficking.

To establish whether a person is a victim of any form of modern slavery (including trafficking) two 
decisions are taken by the MSHTU:

1.  A Reasonable Grounds Decision
There are reasonable grounds to establish that a person is a potential victim.  The threshold for 
‘reasonable grounds’ is low and defined by the principle ‘I suspect but cannot prove’ that the 
individual is a potential victim.  

A reasonable grounds decision should be made within 5 working days.  If the decision is positive, 
the potential victim is then entitled to support, including the option of gender-specific 
Government-funded safe house accommodation for up to 45 days.  This is intended to provide a 
period for reflection and recovery for the victim e.g. they may want to consider whether they now 
feel able to cooperate with and disclose more information to the Police.

Page 84

https://www.modernslavery.gov.uk/start
https://www.salvationarmy.org.uk/modern-slavery


19 | P a g e

2. A Conclusive Grounds Decision
The MSHTU will determine whether, based on the evidence provided, conclusive grounds are 
established that the individual referred is in fact a victim of modern slavery or trafficking.  The 
standard of proof is on the balance of probability that the individual is more likely to be a victim 
than not.  Where conclusive grounds have been established, the potential victim then has two 
weeks to leave safe house accommodation provided by the Salvation Army where this has been 
used and find new accommodation (this may be extended at the request of the safe house).

Discretionary Leave to Remain
If a potential victim receives a conclusive grounds decision, an extension may be made to the 45 
day recovery period or if they do not have any other right to remain in the UK, they may be 
granted a residence permit.  This would be in the form of Discretionary Leave to Remain (DLR) and 
is usually issued for between 12 and 30 months.

If a survivor has an asylum claim, they should automatically be considered for a grant of DLR once 
a positive identification decision has been made.  If they do not have an asylum claim, they will 
need to notify the Home Office if they want to be considered for DLR, preferably whilst they are 
still in the NRM.

Of their personal circumstances e.g. a need to 
remain in the UK for longer to enable the person 
to complete a course of medical treatment.

They need to stay in the UK in order to pursue a 
claim for compensation against their traffickers.

They are co-operating with criminal proceedings 
against their traffickers.  The victim, their legal 
adviser or Police may make a formal request on 
this basis.

Assistance and support is needed for an 
appropriate time after criminal proceedings have 
concluded e.g. post-traumatic stress associated 
with providing witness evidence.

A person is entitled 
to a residence permit 

if they are 
recognised as a 

victim of slavery and 
their stay in the UK is 
necessary because:

Page 85



20 | P a g e

A Negative Conclusive Grounds Decision is made
If a potential victim receives a negative conclusive grounds decision they have two days to leave 
Salvation Army safe house accommodation or outreach support and find alternative 
accommodation.  A negative decision may be due to a lack of evidence, non-disclosure or other 
obstacles that potential victims may face, rather than them not actually being a victim of modern 
slavery.  If this is considered to be the case, the negative decision can be challenged.  If there is still 
concern about a person refused support through the NRM and there are no other safeguarding 
steps that the Council can take, locally concerns should be raised with the Council’s Lead 
Safeguarding Officer who can liaise with the Kent and Medway Adults Safeguarding Board.

Post NRM Risk and Needs Assessment

If the potential victim has been moved out of Borough, there needs to be an assessment by the 
local authority where the potential victim was found, on which local authority will handle the case 
post NRM.  If, for e.g, the potential victim is returning to Gravesham, there needs to be another 
needs and risk assessment considering possible requirements in terms of access to education, 
employment and legal and health support, housing, benefits and immigration.

Access to Education, Employment and Legal and Health Support
 If the potential victim has not done so, connect them with an 

experienced legal adviser on options regarding immigration and 
compensation.

 Provide the potential victim with information on how to engage with a 
GP, on accessing benefits and other statutory/non-statutory support.

 Explore access to education, volunteering and employment and help the 
potential victim to set realistic goals.

 If the potential victim is a Foreign National, make sure they can access 
ESOL classes to improve their English.

 Consider any specialist support agencies/organisations that may be able 
to help the potential victim depending on the types of exploitation they 
have experienced.

 Schedule an appointment for the potential victim with the Job Centre to 
help them receive a National Insurance Number as quickly as possible (if 
an NRM certificate has yet to be provided, use NRM letters to facilitate 
this process).  

 A NI Number can take some time to be issued during which the 
potential victim will not be able to work or claim benefits – work with 
partner agencies to mitigate the risk of them becoming homeless.

Housing and Benefits
 Help the survivor explore the benefits they may be entitled to and with 

accessing them.
 If the potential victim is a Foreign National, has a Conclusive Grounds 

decision and Leave to Remain granted with recourse to public funds, 
then they can access support and housing under the Housing Act 1996.

 Councils still have a duty of care under s.42 of the Care Act 2014 
irrespective of eligibility for care and support under the Act.  If they do 
not meet the threshold for care under the Care Act but e.g. have a 

Page 86



21 | P a g e

primary need for housing, they should be referred to the Council’s 
Housing Services.

 If they don’t have Leave to Remain or have an outstanding immigration 
application, signpost them to appropriate services to check whether 
they are eligible to enter asylum accommodation.

 If a survivor of modern slavery or trafficking is housed, make sure it is 
appropriate and safe for them to live there.

Returning Home
 If a potential victim is a Foreign National, wants to return to their 

country of origin and it is safe for them to do so, they can receive help 
and financial assistance through the Home Office Voluntary Returns 
Service process (non-statutory organisations may also be able to assist).

 The local authority may want to check with the potential victim’s 
Embassy that it is safe to return and should try to connect the potential 
victim with statutory and non-statutory services in the country of origin 
to assist them once they get home to avoid re-exploitation.

Reviewing the Case and Checks before Closing a Case

The potential victim’s case will need to be regularly reviewed (ideally every two weeks) by 
whichever local authority of the area in which they have been housed as their situation may 
fluctuate during recovery.  

Consideration should be given to and an evaluation made of the support given in each of the 
following areas below before concluding that a case can be closed:

 Safety (including risk from traffickers)
 Ongoing access to appropriate healthcare services
 Legal issues to appropriate healthcare services
 Drug and alcohol misuse
 Housing and finance (access to welfare, managing money and debts)
 Living skills (readiness for independence)
 Education/work
 Social/spiritual networks (contacts with family, friends and community agencies)
 Return options

Page 87



22 | P a g e

Implementing the Strategy

The key to our ability to deliver this Strategy is strong and effective partnership working.  No 
individual agency will be able to achieve its objectives and our success will be dependent on joint 
working at both at a strategic and operational level, sharing information, resources and expertise.

A multi-agency Modern Slavery Working Group will be established to meet on a quarterly basis 
and that will oversee the delivery of the Action Plan that has been created simultaneously with 
this Strategy.  The membership of the Group will evolve and adapt as we build an understanding of 
the key issues in our area in order that we bring in the appropriate expertise and experiences of 
those agencies and organisations that have first hand knowledge of the issues to be addressed.

The Action Plan will remain a live document that will be subject to amendment according to 
intelligence, evidence and data and the potential changing needs of victims.  The Plan will, 
however, provide structure, direction and enable the Working Group to remain focussed on the 
strategic objectives.  Progress against the Plan will be monitored at the quarterly meetings and will 
also be fed back to the Gravesham Serious Organised Crime Panel (GSOCP), the Council’s Cabinet 
and the local Community Safety Partnership (CSP) for the purposes of accountability.

Core Membership of the Working Group

 Gravesham Borough Council
 Kent County Council 
 Kent Police
 Porchlight
 Choices
 Rethink Mental Illness 
 Kent Equality Cohesion Council

Gravesham’s Community Safety Unit (CSU) will take responsibility for the coordination of the 
activity of the Working Group and providing progress reports to the GSOCP and CSP.  It will also 
undertake the administration of the quarterly meetings and host them.

‘Slavery is founded on the selfishness of man’s nature;
opposition to it on his love of justice.’
 

                                                                   Abraham Lincoln 

Page 88



23 | P a g e

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 15 September 2020

Reporting officer: Community Safety Operations Manager 

Subject: Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy Update

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update on progress with the Council's Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) Strategy.

Recommendations:
1. That the Committee comments on progress with the ASB Strategy and associated 

actions.

1. Background

1.1 The Council’s Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy was published in March 2020 and 
an ASB Strategy Delivery Group was put in place to co-ordinate delivery of the 
Strategy.  This comprises officers from across the Council, including Community 
Safety, Housing, Waste Management, Private Housing, Planning Enforcement, 
Environmental Protection, Leisure Service, Community Engagement, Licensing, 
Digital and Communications.

1.2 The focus has been on taking forward an Action Plan in relation to the Strategy’s 
key priorities:

1.2.1 Prevention and community involvement;

1.2.2 Early identification;

1.2.3 Supportive intervention;

1.2.4 Enforcement; and,

1.2.5 Communication and reassurance (cutting across each of the above)

1.3 This report updates on actions to date.

1.4 There have been significant increases in ASB reported during the pandemic (see 
Corporate Plan Q1 Performance Report, also on this agenda).  This increase 

Page 91 Agenda Item 10



2

appears to relate to more people being at home resulting in e.g. noise nuisance 
complaints, bonfires, etc. and reports of breaches of COVID-19 restrictions, e.g. 
household and other gatherings, parking in the vicinity of parks, etc.  

2. Prevention and Community Involvement

2.1 Reducing environmental damage

2.1.1 6 additional street cleansing operatives have been recruited to enhance 
cleansing activities within the Town Centre.

2.1.2 New equipment for the removal of chewing gum, grime and pollution from 
pavements and a new road sweeper for use in the Town Centre and 
beyond. 

2.1.3 The No More Litter communications campaign has been revived – posters 
distributed to independent cafes and takeaways and signage has been 
erected at entrances to parks and in the Town Centre. This has been 
bolstered by social media posts accompanied by photographs of 
community litter picking activities.  

2.1.4 The No More Litter campaign will develop to complement the launch of. 
Adopt a Street - The Street Champions in September 2020. 168 volunteers 
have registered for this and 151 streets, pathways, alleyways and open 
spaces have been proposed for adoption.

2.1.5 Resident sign up to the Great British Clean Up have been postponed until 
September 2020. 

2.1.6 Community litter picking has resumed with changes in place to make 
activities COVID-19 secure.

2.1.7 Mars Wrigley anti-gum littering weatherproof signage will be installed in the 
Town Centre at the appropriate time to avoid signage overload.

2.1.8 Talks in schools are currently suspended, but will be reviewed by the 
Waste Projects & Compliance Officer now that schools are reopening.

2.2 Promote good disposal of household waste

2.2.1 Gravesham and Kent-wide social media campaign activity, covering litter, 
fly-tipping and the recycling. Recycle Week and the Great British 
September Clean will be promoted in September 2020.

2.2.2 Kent-wide videos informing the public about what happens to their 
recycling and refuse are in production by the Kent Resource Partnership 
for release early 2021. 

2.2.3 The Bin Contamination Policy to tackle repeat contamination of recycling 
bins was approved by the Council in June for launch in September 2020.  
This will educate residents about correct recycling with the aim of 
minimising rejected bins left uncollected.

2.2.4 A Your Recycling and Waste Services leaflet has been produced for 
distribution to new housing developments and to letting agents.  Street 

Page 92



3

Champions will be issued with copies of the leaflet and are asked to 
continue to report waste management issues via a dedicated mailbox.

2.2.5 Targeted approaches to specific streets and neighbourhoods where there 
are instances of ongoing fly-tipping from people living nearby.

2.2.6 40 We Are Watching - CCTV Active Locally glow-in-the-dark signs have 
bene put up in ‘hot spot’ fly-tipping locations across the Borough.  These 
have proved to be a deterrent in other areas.

2.2.7 Litter bin signage has been amended to make clear that litter bins can also 
be used as dog waste bins. New litter bins will be placed in St Andrew’s 
Gardens.

2.2.8 Safer Place Officers continue to patrol public spaces, deterring ASB, 
littering and signposting to services. 

2.2.9 The Town Centre Public Space Protection Order is currently out to 
consultation for an extension of the current Order which is due to expire in 
October 2020.

3. Prevention and Intervention 

3.1 Progress is being made to collate information on fly-tipping ‘hot-spots’, including 
liaison with KCC.  This will support the activity of the new Environmental 
Enforcement Manager, as set out per below.

3.2 Community engagement activity has been somewhat reduced with Covid-19 
restrictions.

3.3 New GBC Housing newsletter to be developed by Communication Teams, who 
have been asked to include a 2 x A4 article on responsible waste disposal.

4. Supportive Intervention 

4.1 Identifying underlying safeguarding and vulnerability concerns, referrals to support 
agencies and information being shared between agencies has been ongoing 
across the Council.  Key agencies attend both the Gravesham Vulnerability Panel 
and Rough Sleeper Initiative.   Further progress is being made with all staff being 
reminded of the referral process for safeguarding vulnerable adults.  

4.2 ASB officers as part of any investigation refer individuals/families to respective 
agency for support and will follow up the referral and work closely with the 
identified agency to resolve ASB issues.  Working with partner agencies is a key 
part of the ASB officers’ role in addressing ASB and any support needs identified.

4.3 The Government extended the stay on the Court dealing with possession claims 
by 4 weeks to 20 September 2020. It also extended the notice periods that 
landlords are required to give to tenants; this was extended to 3 months back 
when Covid-19 started.  From 29 August 2020, landlords are required to give 
tenants 6 months’ notice of their intention to seek possession of the property there 
are some exceptions to this, including rent arrears and nuisance/annoyance/illegal 
or immoral use of the property.

Page 93



4

5. Enforcement

5.1 The Council’s Environmental Enforcement Manager will start mid-September.  
This new post will focus on enforcement activity in respect of fly-tipping, litter 
offences, abandoned vehicles and tent encampments.   The new Officer will be 
based in the Community Safety Unit and manage the Safer Place Officers.

5.2 Restructuring of the Community Safety Unit has brought environmental 
enforcement alongside parking enforcement, the Anti-Social Behaviour Housing 
Officers and Safer Place Officers.  This strengthens the Council’s response to 
ASB co-ordination.

5.3 During the pandemic the issuing of Fixed Penalty Notices was suspended and the 
Safer Place Officers supported essential operational tasks in support of vulnerable 
persons in the community and visiting the parks to respond to littering concerns 
and undertaking social distancing checks.  

5.4 From June, the Safer Place Officers returned to normal duties, but have currently 
been reduced in number due to two vacancies and one long term health issue.

6. Communication and Reassurance

6.1 The ASB strategy recognises that improved reporting, co-operation across the 
Council and co-ordinated action alongside other partners in respect of ASB is 
essential to responding to ASB.

6.2 To assist this steps are being taken to ensure that ASB incidents are recorded 
and shared effectively via a Council-wide ASB database.  Options for this range 
from additions to existing databases used within the Council, development of a 
new database within the Council that can draw upon information collated, or 
acquisition of a database available on the market, such as those used by other 
local authorities.  These are being investigated with the Council’s digital team and 
service departments.  Each has advantages and disadvantages in terms of their 
capabilities and their ease of use, especially is alongside existing databases.

6.3 This is seen as a high priority in demonstrating the delivery of the Strategy and 
ensuring a more ‘joined up’ approach.  Steps are being taken to move this forward 
and to have in place a workable system, as soon as possible.

6.4 Additional communications activity is referenced above in this report.

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS

7.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 94



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal No

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Any additional costs related to an ASB database will be explored fully and reported 
through the Council's budget monitoring/setting process.

Risk Assessment Not Applicable

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan # 1 People - Create Stronger Neighbourhoods - Work with Kent Police on the 
prevention, detection and reduction of crime and anti-social behaviour, and the 
safeguarding of local residents.

Climate Change The are elements of the Council's Climate Change action plan, including expansion 
of waste and recycling facilities, together with education intiaitives that accord with 
ASB Strategy work.

Crime and Disorder Addressing this issue will improve the quality of life of those living in the area and  
reduce environmental crime. 

Digital and website 
implications

Digital Team expertise required for exploration of ASB database.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Progress will assist in identifying risk and vulnerability.

Page 95

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification: Public 
Key Decision:   No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 15 September 2020

Reporting officer: Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit)

Subject: Altogether Safer – Reducing Violence Against Women and Girls 
(VAWG) - Project End Update

Purpose and summary of the report:
Following the conclusion of the Home Office funded project, Altogether Safer – Reducing VAWG in 
North Kent) in March 2020, this report provides Members with a brief overview of the impact of the 
different strands of the project during its lifetime. It should be noted that this report provides only 
key highlights but a full Independent Evaluation Report of the Project can be shared with Members 
on request to the Community Safety Unit.

Recommendations:

Members are asked to note and offer any comments on the content of the report.

1. Background

1.1 In 2016, Gravesham’s Community Safety Unit (CSU) submitted a successful consortium bid 
to the Home Office Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) Transformation Fund.  A 
total of £248,464.00 was awarded over 3 years to the Altogether Safer Project led by 
Gravesham Council’s Community Safety Unit (CSU) and delivered in collaboration with North 
Kent Police; Choices (specialist domestic abuse service provider); Kent Equality Cohesion 
Council (KECC); Rethink Mental Illness (Rethink Sahayak); and Dartford Council.

1.2 Specifically the project aimed to:

 Improve the availability and quality of services for victims of domestic abuse so that they 
are more accessible and meet victims' needs;

 Change attitudes/break the cycle of violence through preventative work;
 Increase awareness amongst under-represented women/girls, encouraging them to report 

their experiences and access services available to support them;
 Work with local communities to help break down cultural barriers that could be influencing 

victims to remain silent;
 Bring more offenders to justice.

1.3 Three distinct strands of the project were developed to address these aims:

Police Station Based Independent Domestic Violence Advisor (IDVA) Service
The provision of an IDVA service based at North Kent Police Station at weekends/outside 
office hours was set up to provide expert advice for victims and front line officers.  
Availability of advice and support at the right time was crucial; with out it victims could have 

Page 97 Agenda Item 11



2

to wait days to access appropriate support and this was impacting the number of victims 
willing to support a prosecution. 

Engagement with domestic abuse support services across BAME communities
Collaborative work between KECC and Rethink sought to encourage engagement with 
services by victims from BAME communities who were under-represented. This included 
awareness raising, service promotion, peer-led support and initiatives to remove the stigma 
associated with domestic abuse. Some activities were exclusively for women and girls to 
generate confidence and encourage victims to discuss their experiences and seek help.

Choices Respect Programme
This part of the project worked with targeted boys and young men displaying challenging, 
aggressive, controlling or anxious behaviours. It addressed factors influencing their 
behaviour through small group work and 1-2-1 sessions proven to reduce violence and 
aggression. The programme also addressed the use of social media as a tool for 
exploitation/abuse and was delivered in partnership with schools and education providers.  

2. The Police Station Based IDVA Service 

2.1 IDVAs were provided by Choices on commencement of the Project who underwent police 
vetting processes and trained to use police databases.  They were accommodated at North 
Kent Police Station, working alongside the Police Vulnerability Investigation Team (VIT).  
Briefing sessions were given by an IDVA trainer to police colleagues to increase the 
understanding of the role of the IDVAs and the support they provide.  This was an 
innovative and creative partnership intervention that was a new approach and that 
successfully dealt with the challenges of different working practices, procedures and 
systems.

2.2 Over the three years of the Project, the IDVAs supported 269 adults who between them had 
349 children.  Numerous case studies have been collected that clearly demonstrate the 
value of having an IDVA available to work alongside police officers when cases come to 
attention outside of standard office hours.  In some of the case examples, it meant that the 
victim was able to be accurately assessed by the IDVA without delay. Appropriate 
engagement and sufficient support helped them to be confident enough to disclose a 
number of offences resulting in the suspect being arrested.  Feedback received from both 
victims assisted and Kent Police colleagues confirm the positive impact of the service.  This 
is impressive given that the service was only operating for 12 hours per week (with the 
exception of the second six months of 2018-19 when it was able to extend hours to 18 per 
week on receipt of some additional funding from the Home Office in that year).

3. Engagement with domestic abuse support services across BAME communities

3.2 This element of the Project was led by KECC and Rethink Mental Illness as very well-
established local agencies with extensive community links/strong credibility and likely to 
effective in approaching women and girls who might otherwise be harder to reach, to 
engage in the project’s activities. The focus was on targeting women and girls from BAME 
communities to raise awareness of VAWG and available services and remove the stigma of 
reporting domestic abuse using a range of methods including:

 Holding an annual conference and social event (Sadi Awaaz Suno – Listen to our 
Voices) to explore different topics and issues to encourage open discussion;

 Engagement with community and faith groups/venues; 
 Work with the Gurdwara to engage with men and boys from the Sikh community;
 The use of social media (Facebook, Twitter) and YouTube to highlight particular forms of 

violence and services available; 
 Developing peer support networks for victims.

Page 98



3

3.3 Local events were used as opportunities to disseminate information and advice particularly 
as some of the high profile local events are especially well-attended by women and children 
from BAME communities.  These included:

 The UK India Year of Culture Celebrations (organised by KECC, in partnership with 
Gravesham BC and the Sharodia Druga) hosted by the UK Hindu Cultural Association);

 Diwali celebrations at the Guru Nanak Gurdwara (Gravesend) and during the Festival 
of Light (Dartford);

 Interfaith events taking place across both Dartford and Gravesham;
 Gravesham Festival of Christmas Lights;
 Community outreach in support of International Women's Day activities at the Guru 

Nanak Gurdwara;
 Open discussions with the Indian community in collaboration with the Gurdwara, with a 

number of events being hosted by the temple itself;
 Fusion Festival (Gravesend).

3.4 The annual Sadi Awaaz Suno Conference has been incredibly successful.  The Project 
originally set a target of 150 women and girls to attend each conference.  This was greatly 
exceeded with 880 attendees over three years.  The conferences have covered a wide 
range of issues relevant to domestic abuse including: modern slavery and human 
trafficking; mental illness; female genital mutilation (FGM), alcohol abuse, forced marriage 
and honour-based violence.  Interpreters and translators have been present at each event 
to assist with audience participation and feedback forms from attendees have clearly 
demonstrated the value of this event.

3.5 KECC and Rethink have also produced several short film clips that have been available on 
YouTube and used to raise awareness and encourage reporting.  One of these, the Ladies 
Sangeet, examines a domestic abuse victim’s silence.  It was shot within an Indian Sub-
Continent cross-generational context with the cast made up of local BAME women. It has 
been used as a tool to begin conversations on the issue of domestic abuse more broadly.

3.6 In assessing the impact of work carried out with BAME women and girls, it is important to 
remember that ‘word of mouth’ plays a significant role in sharing information and raising 
awareness.  The conference and other local settings/events provided an opportunity for 
discussions to begin that will continue in the community and between families and friends.  
98.0% of 215 survey responses following the holding of the conference in Year 3 recorded 
that the event had increased their awareness and understanding of support services and 
how to access them and the same percentage asked that a similar event continue to be 
organised each year.  Rethink Mental Illness have repeatedly seen an increase in women 
accessing their services in the period directly following the conference.  It also seems that 
this work specifically with the BAME community may have resulted in an increase in BAME 
victims accessing the Police Station Based IDVA service: in Year 1 of the Project, 19.1% of 
victims supported were from the BAME community; in Year 3, this had risen to over 30.0%, 
indicating that barriers to seeking help are being broken down.

4. Choose Respect Programme

4.1 This strand of the Project was a preventative, targeted programme for boys and young men 
aged 11-16 displaying challenging, aggressive, controlling or anxious behaviours. Delivered 
in partnership with schools and education providers, the programme provided 1-2-1 and 
small group sessions proven to reduce and prevent violent and aggressive behaviour. The 
programme also addressed the use of social media as a tool for abuse and exploitation. 

4.2 During the lifetime of the Project, a total of 204 boys and young men have been supported 
through either 1:1 or small group work.  Data collated as part of post-programme 

Page 99



4

assessments suggest that the intervention and support provided had some very positive 
results.  In each of the years 1-3 of the Project, the outcomes were extremely similar with:

100.0% of participants stating that:

 Their ability to be assertive (in the face of peer pressure) had increased;
 Their aggression had decreased;
 They were able to identify respect, honesty and empathy as important for healthy 

relationships and communication; and,

 98% were able to identify relationship skills including self-esteem, assertiveness and 
healthy boundaries as important in a healthy relationship.

 96.5% felt that their understanding of their feelings had increased.
 87% were able to identify that abuse occurs in relationships because of power and 

control.

4.3 Case studies were collated throughout the three years have served to illustrate the value of 
the Programme and also highlighted some of the issues, experiences and behaviours which 
the young people taking part brought to the Project, including: difficulty in controlling anger; 
inability to express emotions; aggressive and threatening behaviour; ADHD, ODD and ASD 
diagnoses; verbal and physical attacks; witnessing domestic abuse in their family; risk-
taking behaviour; bereavement; struggling in the classroom.

4.4 Feedback not just from the individuals themselves that took part but also from teachers of 
schools that participated and parents was extremely positive.  The following comments from 
one teacher were included within the Project’s Independent Evaluation Report:

‘We have been fortunate enough to have accessed the Choose Respect Programme for a 
number of our students. The impact of this has been invaluable. The students are referred 
for a number of reasons and often have a complex background and negative relationships. 
The opportunity is there for their individual needs to be met through group work or in a 1:1 
setting. The high majority of students referred have fully engaged. From these we have 
seen an improvement in attendance, attitude to learning and a decrease in risk taking 
behaviour and poor choices. Our young men have felt understood, listened to and 
expressed gratitude for the intervention.’

5. Overall Assessment, Value for Money and Future Work

5.1 An Independent Evaluation Report was completed as required by the terms of our Grant 
Agreement and was provided to the Home Office.  The Project was delivered in full, to 
agreed deadlines and within budget.  Gravesham Council had forward-funded the initiatives 
and all expenditure was successfully claimed at the end of each year.

5.2 Details provided above demonstrate the impact of the work carried out on those individuals 
and families supported.  However, on a pragmatic level it is also important to consider the 
value for money aspects of what has been delivered.  The Home Office Report ‘Economic 
and Social Costs of Domestic Abuse’ published in January 2019, estimated the cost of 
domestic abuse in England and Wales for the financial year ending March 2017 was over 
£66 billion.  The estimated number of domestic abuse victims in that year was 1,946,00, 
giving an average cost of £34,015 per victim.  The costs of the interventions delivered 
through Altogether Safer should be considered alongside these:

Weekend/Out of Hours IDVA Service – in supporting a total of 269 adult clients, the unit 
cost per client was £187.31.  It should be noted that a number of the cases supported by 
the IDVAs were complex, high risk and therefore, time consuming. Children are often the 
hidden victims of domestic abuse and if the clients’ 349 children between them are also 

Page 100



5

included, the unit cost comes down to approximately £80.00.

Improving access to services (BAME communities) – this work was successful in 
reaching a large number of women and girls through its annual conference/other events.  It 
is impossible to calculate an accurate figure of the number of beneficiaries. However, there 
were 880 attendees at the conferences alone and so it is still likely that at least 1000 would 
have benefited in some way across all the events. 

This part of the project cost £36,000, an estimated unit cost of £36 per participant. 
However, the impact of the project can be seen on a sliding scale in terms of intervention 
and support.  From the lower end – perhaps a woman picking up and keeping a leaflet 
about domestic abuse and help available, to a woman being actively supported by one of 
the Rethink workers, or being referred to other services to enable her to leave an abusive 
relationship. Awareness-raising in this context is invaluable and together with the 
opportunity for women to meet together at the conferences and discuss a number of difficult 
issues, the project demonstrated excellent value for money.

Choose Respect Programme - worked with 204 boys and young men during the three 
years.  Details provided in case studies and the young men's own assessment of how the 
project affected their behaviour indicate that the project had a positive impact on them with 
the potential to change their future lives and also the lives of those around them. The unit 
cost for this part of the project is just under £640 for each boy/young man who took part in 
the 12 week Programme. Some of the participants were displaying significant anger and 
aggression to other members of their families and without the intervention of the 
Programme this might have resulted in them being placed in the care of the local authority. 
That course of action would have been far more expensive (£640 would barely pay for a 
week's foster care) and potentially would have had a long-term impact on their future in 
terms of education, training and the ability to develop healthy relationships. It is also worth 
noting that the Programme was labour intensive, especially when providing 1:1 sessions. 

6 Next Steps

6.1 As a result of funding coming to an end, the Weekend/Out of Hours IDVA Service has had 
to be discontinued but it is hoped that given the relatively small cost in providing the 
service, and as a result of similar work being carried out by Kent County Council in 
providing a Hospital based IDVA service, that this provision may be considered for 
incorporation into the wider commissioned domestic abuse services provided county-wide.  
Choices have been considering broadening the Choose Respect Programme in order that 
further external funding can be sought.  The Sadi Awaaz Suno annual conference will 
continue as funding from the Community Safety Unit’s own budget will be able to sustain 
this.  A conference had been planned for 12 November 2020 but this has now been 
deferred until 2021 as due to Coronavirus restrictions the event is not viable.

6.2 Kent Police, KECC, Rethink Mental Illness and Gravesham’s CSU will continue to work 
together and a new project, due to commence in the autumn, will focus on Modern Slavery 
and Human Trafficking (many of the issues overlap with work carried out as part of the 
Altogether Safer Project).  This new initiative will also bring colleagues from Porchlight 
(homelessness charity) and Kent Police Serious Crime Directorate into our Working Group 
and we hope to be able to establish best practice locally in our approach to raising 
awareness of modern slavery and supporting victims of this other crime type that 
experiences considerable underreporting nationwide.

Page 101



6

APPENDIX 1
IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             
Legal The Council has a statutory obligation to work with partner agencies to address 

crime and ASB and SOC (Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and Serious Organised 
Crime Act 2015).  

Finance and 
Value for Money

Other than nominal costs, the Altogether Safer Project was funded in its entirety 
through a successful bid to the Home Office Violence Against Women and Girls 
Transformation Fund.

Risk assessment The Council has a duty of care and responsibility to work with our partners to 
support victims of violent crime and protect vulnerable people from harm.  As a 
key local public agency, failure to take opportunities to develop this work would 
threaten the reputation of the Council in fulfilling its legal obligations.
A data protection impact assessment (OPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve 
the processing of personal data or special category data or criminal 
offence data? No

b. If yes to question a., have you completed and attached a DPIA including 
Data Protection Officer advice? N/a

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b., please seek advice from your nominated DPIA 
assessor or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups 
in the community?  No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make 
a positive contribution to promoting equality? No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate 
Business Plan

The Altogether Safer Project made a direct contribution to improving public safety 
as a key priority within the Corporate Plan.

Crime and 
Disorder

The work of the Altogether Safer Project made a significant contribution the 
Dartford and Gravesham CSP’s strategic objectives of addressing violence and 
domestic abuse.  

Climate Change None.
Digital/website 
website 
implications

None.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The safeguarding of vulnerable young people and adults is a high priority for the 
Council and partner agencies; much of the work carried out through the Altogether 
Safer Project has potentially helped to prevent vulnerable individuals coming to 
harm and to protect victims from re-victimisation.

Page 102



1

Classification: Public 
Key Decision:  No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 15 September 2020

Reporting officer: Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit)

Subject: Step Change Project (Project End Update)

Purpose and summary of the report:
This report provides Members with details of the Step Change Project that was initiated as the 
result of a successful bid to the MHCLG Domestic Abuse Service Fund submitted by the Council’s 
Community Safety Unit.  Funding was provided for the financial years 2018-19 and 2019-20 and 
the Project has been delivered at an operational by Choices (domestic abuse service provider). 

Recommendations:

Members are asked to note and comment upon the content of the report.

1. Background

1.1 In 2018, the MHCLG announced that it was making available funding to support innovative 
approaches to improve services available to victims of domestic abuse.  Gravesham’s 
Community Safety Unit (CSU) worked closely with Choices (domestic abuse service 
provider) in submitting a bid to fund the delivery of a new project called Step Change and 
was successful in being awarded £137,880.00.

1.2 Step Change is a preventative, ‘wrap around the family’ support model providing a scaffold 
of measures and tools to directly assist victims of domestic abuse and their children.  The 
Step Change approach places the victim at the centre of local domestic service provision, 
tailoring the assistance provided to meet the specific, individual and often complex needs of 
the victim and their children.  Working with the family as a whole, the method of intensive 
support used reduces demands on a raft of services by:

 minimising the risk of repeat victimisation;
 addressing the very specific and complex needs of the victim/the family;
 empowering victims to have more control over their future by placing them at the centre 

of decision-making and allowing them to be personally involved in the development of 
support plans;

 breaking the cycle of violence through preventative work with children alongside the non-
violent parent;

 enabling local services to work more collaboratively and effectively to ensure the best 
outcome for victims/families supported and make best use of resources.

1.3 Choices employed and line-managed specialist workers to provide intensive support to the 
victims and their children.  The Project also had the opportunity to be able to provide a bed 
space at one of Choices residential support properties should an individual and their 
child/children require accommodation for a short period of time.  

Page 103 Agenda Item 12



2

2. How has the Project performed in meeting its objectives?

2.1 Late announcement of invitation to bid for funding and consequently, late release of funds 
to successful projects by Government meant that in reality the Project that was planned for 
delivery over a 2 year period had only just over 12 months within which to meet its targets.  
Evidence of the high demand for the service provided is served purely by the fact that the 
target numbers originally set were exceeded within the shortened timescales.  The original 
target was to aim to work with approximately 80 adults and approximately 120 children.  
The Project actually worked successfully with 92 individuals and 180 children.

2.2 In terms of the specialist support and advice provided to victims, this included:

 support with housing issues as a high priority – 1:1 support in making contact with local 
housing providers and working with the victim to access information regarding available 
accommodation, checking cost details and ensuring affordability;

 providing guidance with finances and support to access welfare benefits;
 promoting good mental health and signposting to specialist services if needed;
 offering parenting advice and aids to ensure healthy relationships are maintained with 

children;
 direct work with children within the family (school year 7 and upwards);
 Risk assessment and safety planning.

2.3 Where appropriate, victims were referred to Choices own hostel premises (for clients aged 
18-25 years and who have young children or are pregnant) where they could be supported 
until ready to move to independent living.  The Project specifically worked with victims with 
complex needs e.g. mental health issues, drug/alcohol dependency problems, victims from 
cultural backgrounds in which reporting domestic abuse may be seen as bringing shame 
upon the wider family.  Victims experiencing a multitude of difficulties often live with chaos 
and their experiences are often typified e.g. by missed appointments, inability to travel to 
meetings with professionals due to financial constraints.  The Step Change approach aims 
to counter these factors in several ways.   The Step Change workers accompany/support 
the victims directly and act as a conduit between agencies to make sure that 
communication is maintained.  Through regular contact with the victim, they ensure that 
planned professional interventions take place at the most appropriate time. The approach 
appreciates there may be times when a victim ‘takes a step back’ e.g. they may fail to 
adhere to a treatment programme to which they have made a commitment to follow, but this 
is dealt with through the intensive support sessions to understand what caused the 
momentary lapse and the victim and the worker work together to identify what is needed to 
get the victim back on track. This non-judgemental process helps to build and restore the 
victim’s confidence and significantly reduces the risk of disengagement with services that 
might otherwise occur.

2.4 From the point of referral, the needs of the children attached to the parent victim are 
assessed and children have benefited from either (or both) structured programmes of 1:1 
and group work bespoke to the specific needs of the particular child/children and family.  

Work with children has included:

 Sessions enabling children’s expression, discussion and disclosure using a variety of 
tools e.g. Signs of Safety Tree Houses;

 Arts and crafts and play methods;
 Targeted activity to re-build/strengthen the child-parent relationship;
 Making appropriate referrals to other schemes such as HeadStart and to Family and 

Children’s Centres.

Page 104



3

2.5 The majority of case referrals to the Project have been made by Kent County Council’s 
Early Help Teams, Education and Kent Police.

3. Outcomes of the Project and Current Position

3.1 Of the 92 referrals to the Project, 72 people (78%) went on to fully engage i.e. required 
more that signposting or very short-term advice and guidance.  The most common age 
range of victims supported was 25-34 years (46%); the youngest victim was in the age 
range 16-17 years and the eldest in the 55-64 years range.  The majority of the victims 
classified themselves as White UK (60 victims or 65% of the total).  At the time of 
completing monitoring returns to the MHCLG, full assessments had been completed with 23 
of the longer-term support cases that had then closed with the following results:

 Increase in emotional well-being: 18 (78%)
 Increase in general feeling of safety: 15 (65%)
 Reduction in the fear of harm: 15 (65%)
 Increase in financial stability: 16 (70%)
 Improved confidence in engaging with other services: 13 (57%)
 Improved confidence to identify and overcome abusive behaviour: 14 (61%)
 Improved confidence in decision-making for themselves and their children: 13 (57%)
 Improvement in parent-child relationship: 15 (65%)
 Improvement in children’s well-being: 13 (57%)
 Improved understanding of own strengths/goals: 13 (57%).

Case studies have also been gathered to illustrate the impact of the Project (details are 
available on request from the Community Safety Unit).

3.2 The Project has been successfully delivered and clearly had some positive outcomes for 
the victims supported and their children. Careful monitoring and record keeping throughout 
the Project placed Choices in a good position in trying to find additional funding after March 
2020 when MHCLG funding came to an end. Choices have been able to continue delivering 
Step Change following a successful application for Big Lottery Funding for a wider project 
that also includes the delivery of a further separate domestic abuse support service, the 
Phoenix Programme.  Services are now available to victims from Medway and Maidstone 
as well as Dartford and Gravesham and this funding is secured until the end of March 2022.   

 

Page 105



4

APPENDIX 1
IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             
Legal The Council has a statutory obligation to work with partner agencies to address 

crime and ASB and SOC (Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and Serious Organised 
Crime Act 2015).  

Finance and 
Value for Money

The Step Change Project has been funded in its entirety from external funding 
through an application to the MHCLG Domestic Abuse Services Fund.

Risk assessment Failure to take advantage of opportunities to secure funding or to work in 
partnership with other agencies/organisations to improve support to those 
experiencing domestic abuse and their children would carry the risk of a lack of 
confidence in the Council’s commitment to protecting people from harm and 
improving community safety.
A data protection impact assessment (OPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve 
the processing of personal data or special category data or criminal 
offence data? No

b. If yes to question a., have you completed and attached a DPIA including 
Data Protection Officer advice? N/a

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b., please seek advice from your nominated DPIA 
assessor or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups 
in the community?  No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make 
a positive contribution to promoting equality? No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate 
Business Plan

Step Change has made a direct contribution to improving public safety linked to 
‘People’ in the Corporate Plan.

Crime and 
Disorder

Encouraging victims of domestic abuse to report their experience and improving 
support services available is a priority for the Dartford and Gravesham CSP and 
the local Community Safety Unit.

Climate Change None.
Digital/website 
website 
implications

None.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The safeguarding of vulnerable young people and adults is a high priority for the 
Council and partner agencies; improving services for victims of domestic abuse 
and their children contributes directly to this agenda.

Page 106


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2020-21
	Appendix 2 - Community & Leisure Portfolio - Q1 2020-21

	6 Impact of Covid 19 on Gravesham’s Community Sector
	200915 Community Organisations Appendices

	7 Cultural Strategy
	Art & Culture Strategy September 2020

	8 Draft Tourism & Heritage Strategy
	Appendix 2 Gravesham Tourism and Heritage Strategy  - CL Cabinet Committee
	Appendix 3 Tourism and Heritage Strategy Plan on A Page

	9 Modern Slavery Strategy
	MSHT Strategy 2020-2023 Draft

	10 Anti-Social Behaviour Update
	11 Violence Against Women & Girls
	12 Step Change Project



